
Your Hometown National Carrier
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A dry van truckload company serving customers through 22 regional service
centers strategically placed to provide broad coverage in high-density lanes.
As “Your Hometown National Carrier,” Knight Transportation offers the value 
and flexibility of a local provider, and the strength and capacity of a large,
dependable company its cutomers can trust.

ATLANTA SERVICE CENTER 

3901 Jonesboro Rd 
Forest Park, GA 30297 
Main: 404-736-7500 
Fax: 404-736-7600 

CARLISLE SERVICE CENTER 

1076 Harrisburg Pike 
Carlisle, PA 17013 
Main: 717-249-0952 
Fax: 717-243-3876 

CHARLOTTE SERVICE CENTER 

7001 Statesville Rd 
Charlotte, NC 28269 
Main: 704-998-2700 
Fax: 704-998-2800 

CHICAGO SERVICE CENTER 

12300 New Ave 
Lemont, IL 60439 
Main: 630-257-6088 
Fax: 630-257-5640 

CONTAINER SERVICE CENTER 

5601 W Buckeye Rd 
Phoenix, AZ 5043 
Main: 602-269-2000 
Fax: 602-269-8409 

DENVER SERVICE CENTER 

16080 Smith Rd 
Aurora, CO 80011 
Main: 303-366-4950 
Fax: 303-366-3269 

EL PASO SERVICE CENTER 

1101 Southview Dr 
El Paso, TX 79928 
Main: 915-859-7722 
Fax: 915-859-7760 

GULFPORT SERVICE CENTER 

9368 County Farm Rd 
Gulfport, MS 39503 
Main: 228-539-6111 
Fax: 228-539-6155 

INDIANAPOLIS SERVICE CENTER 

3702 W Minnesota St 
Indianapolis, IN 46241 
Main: 317-486-1770 
Fax: 317-486-1777 

KANSAS CITY SERVICE CENTER 

6840 Kaw Dr 
Kansas City, KS 66111 
Main: 913-748-0010 
Fax: 913-905-7990

KATY SERVICE CENTER 

20431 Franz Rd 
Katy, TX 77449 
Main: 281-828-8000 
Fax: 281-828-8026 

LAKELAND SERVICE CENTER 

1314 George Jenkins Blvd 
Lakeland, FL 33815 
Main: 863-802-4893 
Fax: 863-687-8106 

LAS VEGAS SERVICE CENTER 

906 George Ave 
North Las Vegas, NV 89030 
Main: 702-399-6649 
Fax: 702-399-9227 

MEMPHIS SERVICE CENTER 

8400 Industrial Dr 
Olive Branch, MS 38654 
Main: 662-890-0901 
Fax: 662-890-0914 

MINNEAPOLIS SERVICE CENTER

3045 Hwy 13 
Eagan, MN 55121 
Main: 651-365-7900
Fax: 651-365-4946 

NO. CALIFORNIA SERVICE CENTER 

4450 S Blackstone St 
Tulare, CA 93274 
Main: 559-685-9838 
Fax: 559-685-9850 

PHOENIX SERVICE CENTER 

5601 W Buckeye Rd 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Main: 602-269-2000 
Fax: 602-269-8409 

PORTLAND SERVICE CENTER 

23033 Townsend Way 
Fairview, OR 97024 
Main: 503-405-1800 
Fax: 503-405-1960 

RENO SERVICE CENTER 

1455 Demming Way, Suite 12 
Sparks, NV 89431 
Main: 775-331-1000 
Fax: 775-331-1099 

SALT LAKE CITY SERVICE CENTER 

2519 S. 5370 W.
West Valley City, UT 84120 
Main: 801-907-4500 
Fax: 801-606-1793 

SEATTLE SERVICE CENTER

7808 S 207th Court 
Kent, WA 98032 
Main: 253-872-3283 
Fax: 253-395-8762 

SO. CALIFORNIA SERVICE CENTER 

5601 W Buckeye Rd 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Main: 602-269-2000 
Fax: 602-269-8409 

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION DRY VAN SERVICE CENTERS



Knight Dry Van 
service centers

Knight Refrigerated 
service centers

Knight Brokerage 
service centers

A wholly owned subsidiary of Knight Transportation dedicated to serving our
growing list of customers shipping temperature-controlled freight. With access to
all of our service centers, as well as our nationwide sales force and maintenance
network, Knight Refrigerated offers its customers all the advantages of working
with Knight Transportation.

PHOENIX SERVICE CENTER 

5601 W Mohave, Suite B 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Main: 602-352-8200 
Fax: 602-352-8201 

IDAHO FALLS SERVICE CENTER

1795 N Holmes Ave 
Idaho Falls, ID 83401 
Main: 208-525-3000 
Fax: 208-523-1397

GREEN BAY SERVICE CENTER

1311 Contract Dr, Suite A 
Green Bay, WI 54304 
Main: 920-338-9655 
Fax: 920-338-9635

KNIGHT REFRIGERATED SERVICE CENTERS

A wholly owned subsidiary of Knight Transportation that continues to serve 
customers when our assets are fully allocated or the freight does not meet our
operating model. Knight Brokerage offers access to thousands of qualified 
carriers who provide flexible capacity to shippers nationwide.

PHOENIX SERVICE CENTER 

5601 W Mohave, Suite B 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Main: 602-272-1500 
Fax: 602-272-5800 

IDAHO FALLS SERVICE CENTER

1795 N Holmes Ave 
Idaho Falls, ID 83401 
Main: 208-542-3200 
Fax: 208-523-1397 

KANSAS CITY SERVICE CENTER

6840 Kaw Dr 
Kansas City, KS 66111 
Main: 913-981-2424 
Fax: 913-748-7990 

KNIGHT BROKERAGE SERVICE CENTERS
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*Revenue does not include fuel surcharge.

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

I am happy to report another strong year for Knight Transportation, its associates, its customers,

and you, our shareholders. Once again we all worked together to produce the best economic

performance in our 16 years of operation—revenue before fuel surcharge up 21%, earnings per

diluted share up 29%, an operating ratio of 79.6%, and a balance sheet that remains debt-free.

We were able to achieve these results by continuing to execute our operating model that produces

industry-leading growth and profitability. We apply a combination of carefully planned expansion,

tight cost controls, high service levels, disciplined operating lanes and pricing, and a safe and

rewarding environment for our drivers. Not all companies can bring these factors to bear, but they

are basic principles that we instill in every associate from their first day at Knight Transportation.

Consistent with this model, we rolled out three new dry van service centers in 2005—

Chicago, Illinois, El Paso, Texas, and Reno, Nevada. With every new center we open, we are 

able to offer more lanes and service for more customers, which in turn creates greater 

opportunity for our associates and more growth for our shareholders.

Additionally, Knight Refrigerated completed its first full year of operation in 2005. This wholly

owned subsidiary of Knight Transportation is dedicated to meeting the temperature-controlled

needs of a new market segment for us, diversifying our customer base and broadening our

service offerings.

We also demonstrated our ability to grow through acquisition this year by acquiring Edwards

Brothers and integrating those operations into our refrigerated business. This established 

trucking company has been an excellent fit for Knight, and we appreciate the contributions 

of EB’s talented associates.

We identified an additional opportunity to grow responsibly in 2005 by initiating Knight Brokerage.

This second wholly owned subsidiary gives us the flexibility to continue offering services to our

customers in the event our assets are fully allocated or the freight doesn’t meet our operating

model. It also allows us to grow in a less capital-intensive segment of the business.

From an investor’s perspective, we believe 2005 contained a number of highlights as well.

Knight moved to the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: KNX), affirming our commitment to the

highest standards of stability, liquidity, and corporate governance. We declared cash dividends

in all four quarters of 2005 and also declared a three-for-two stock split in December 2005,

effectively increasing dividends paid by 50%. The key to this performance is an operating

model that funds our growth internally, while generating free cash flow. We are still one of only 

a few public companies that has increased operating earnings and revenues by 10% or more



CONSISTENT GROWTH

Double digit growth in both 

operating earnings and revenues 

for 15 consecutive years.

REVENUE GROWTH 

$499 million, before fuel surcharge,

in revenue, up 21% over 2004.

EARNINGS GROWTH

$61.7 million in net income,

up 28.9% over 2004.

FLEET GROWTH

Total tractors of 3,271,

up 16% over 2004.

EFFICIENCY
79.6% operating ratio,*
our best since 1994.

*Operating expenses, net of fuel 
surcharge, as a percentage of 
revenue, before fuel surcharge.

FINANCIAL STRENGTH

A debt-free balance sheet with over 

$21 million in cash, cash equivalents 

and short term investments with 

$352 million in shareholders’ equity.

RECOGNITION

Forbes Magazine’s 200 Best 

Small Companies List for the 

eleventh consecutive year.

annually for the past fifteen consecutive years, and our success was recognized by Forbes Magazine

when it included Knight Transportation in its list of the 200 Best Small Companies for the

eleventh year in a row.

Looking forward, we plan to open seven additional service centers in our three businesses in

2006, three of which we’ve already launched. Knight Refrigerated has expanded into Green Bay,

Wisconsin. Knight Brokerage has opened in Kansas City, Kansas, and Knight Transportation has

rolled out two new service centers in Seattle, Washington and Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Our organic development of new service centers reflects our unique approach to our business,

emphasizing local service with a personal touch, backed by the broad coverage and resources

of a national carrier. In fact, being “Your Hometown National Carrier” is what distinguishes

Knight Transportation from other trucking companies in the marketplace. It is the promise of

our brand, and it defines us as a company.

With that in mind, we made the strategic decision in 2005 to clearly identify and market our

brand promise, which is why you see our Annual Report in a slightly different format this year.

We have reallocated some of the resources we normally use to produce this report so we could

develop our branding and marketing program. We’ve poured our heart and soul into creating it,

and we believe it captures the essence of who we are and the value we strive to give all of our

stakeholders, including you.

Our accomplishments in 2005 were impressive, but even more impressive were the efforts 

and commitments of our people, who continued to build and strengthen the relationships with

stakeholders that make a difference for Knight Transportation. Working together, all of our

stakeholders—our associates, our vendors, our shareholders and especially our customers—

make Knight Transportation a better, safer, more competitive and service-driven company 

every year, and we are gratified by the contributions all of these people make. We couldn’t 

do it without them, or you.

Best wishes for continued success,

Kevin P. Knight 

Chairman and CEO
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BUSINESS

Except for certain historical information contained herein, this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements

that involve risks, assumptions, and uncertainties which are difficult to predict. All statements, other than statements

of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation: any

projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items, any statement of plans, strategies, and objectives of

management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments; any

statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any statement of

assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Words such as "believe," "may," "could," "expects," "hopes,"

"anticipates," and "likely," and variations of these words, or similar expressions, are intended to identify such

forward-looking statements. Actual events or results could differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking

statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to those discussed

in the section entitled "Risk Factors," set forth below. We do not assume, and specifically disclaim, any obligation to

update any forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report.

References in this Annual Report to "we," "us," "our," "Knight," or the "Company" or similar terms refer to

Knight Transportation, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

General

Our Company headquarters is located in Phoenix, Arizona and the transportation services we provide are primarily

dry van truckload carrier services. In addition we also began providing temperature controlled truckload carrier

services in 2004, and brokerage services during 2005. Through our asset-based and non-asset-based capabilities we

are able to transport, or can arrange for the transportation of, general commodities for shippers throughout the

United States. We generally focus our dry van and temperature controlled operations on regional short-to-medium

lengths of haul. At year-end 2005 we operated 20 regional dry van service centers, two regional temperature

controlled service centers, and two brokerage service centers. The addition of our brokerage services in 2005

enables us to expand our customer service offerings by providing non-asset-based capability to manage our

customers' freight when the shipments do not fit our asset-based model. Our stock has been publicly traded since
October 1994. Over the past five years we have achieved substantial growth from $241.7 million in revenue, before

fuel surcharge, and $19.0 million in net income in 2001 to $499.0 million in revenue, before fuel surcharge, and

$61.7 million in net income in 2005. The main factors that affect our results are the number of tractors we operate,

our revenue per tractor (which includes primarily our revenue per total mile and our number of miles per tractor),

and our ability to control our costs. Additional information regarding our revenues, assets, and profits are contained

at pages 30 through 48 of this report.

While we have many service centers, we have determined that we have only one reportable segment. All of the

centers are managed based on regions in the United States in which we operate. Each of these service centers has

similar economic characteristics as they all provide short to medium-haul truckload carrier services of general

commodities to a similar class of customers. In addition, each service center exhibits similar financial performance,

including average revenue per mile and operating ratio. As a result, we have determined that it is appropriate to
aggregate our service centers into one reportable segment consistent with the guidance in SFAS No. 131,

"Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information." Accordingly, we have not presented

separate financial information for each of our service centers. Furthermore, we have not presented separate financial

information for our recently initiated brokerage subsidiary, although it qualifies as a segment, because its results of

operations are relatively immaterial. For the year ended December 31, 2005, total revenue, net income, and assets of

the brokerage subsidiary accounted for less than half of one percent of our consolidated totals.

Operations

Our operating strategy for our asset-based activities is to achieve a high level of asset utilization within a highly

disciplined operating system while maintaining strict controls over our cost structure. To achieve these goals, we
operate primarily in high-density, predictable traffic lanes in select geographic regions, and attempt to develop and

expand our customer base around each of our regional service centers. This operating strategy allows us to take

advantage of the large amount of freight traffic transported in regional markets, realize the operating efficiencies

associated with regional hauls, and offer more flexible service to our customers than rail, intermodal, and smaller

regional competitors. In addition, short-to-medium lengths of haul provide an attractive alternative to drivers in the

truckload sector by reducing the amount of time spent away from home. We believe this improves driver retention,
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decreases recruitment and training costs, and reduces insurance claims and other costs. We operate a modern fleet to

appeal to drivers and customers, decrease maintenance expenses and downtime, and enhance our operating

efficiencies. We employ technology in a cost-effective manner where it assists us in controlling operating costs and

enhancing revenue. Our operating strategy for our non-asset-based activities is to match quality capacity with the

shipping needs of our customers. Our goal is to increase our market presence significantly, both in existing

operating regions and in other areas where we believe the freight environment meets our operating strategy, while
seeking to achieve industry-leading operating margins and returns on investment.

Our operating strategy includes the following important elements:

Regional Operations. We presently have 21 regional dry van service centers. During 2005, we established regional

dry van service centers in Chicago, El Paso, and Reno. We also have three regional temperature controlled service

centers, which are operated from our facilities located in Phoenix, Arizona; Idaho Falls, Idaho; and Green Bay,

Wisconsin. Our brokerage service centers, which began operating during 2005, are located in Phoenix, Arizona;

Idaho Falls, Idaho; and Kansas City, Kansas. In early 2006, we established a regional dry van service center in

Seattle, Washington; a temperature controlled service center in Green Bay, Wisconsin; and a brokerage service

center located in Kansas City, Kansas. We concentrate our asset-based freight operations in an approximately 750-

mile radius of our terminals, with an average length of haul in 2005 of approximately 580 miles. We believe that
regional operations offer several advantages, including:

• obtaining greater freight volumes, because approximately 80% of all truckload freight moves in short-to-medium

lengths of haul;

• achieving higher revenue per mile by focusing on high-density traffic lanes to minimize non-revenue miles and

offer our customers a high level of service and consistent capacity;

• enhancing safety and driver recruitment and retention by allowing our drivers to travel familiar routes and return

home more frequently; and

• enhancing our ability to provide a high level of service to our customers.

Operating Efficiencies. Our company was founded on a philosophy of maintaining operating efficiencies and
controlling costs. We maintain a simplified operation that focuses on operating in particular geographical and

shipping markets. This approach allows us to concentrate our marketing efforts to achieve higher penetration of our

targeted service areas and to achieve higher equipment utilization in dense traffic lanes. We maintain a modern

tractor and trailer fleet in order to obtain fuel and other operating efficiencies and attract and retain drivers. A

generally compatible fleet of tractors and trailers simplifies our maintenance procedures, reduces parts supplies, and

facilitates our ability to serve a broad range of customer needs, thereby maximizing equipment utilization and

available freight capacity. We also regulate vehicle speed in order to maximize fuel efficiency, reduce wear and tear,

and minimize claims expenses.

Customer Service. We offer a high level of service to customers in lanes and regions that complement our other

operations, and we seek to establish ourselves as a preferred provider for many of our customers. For our asset-

based services we concentrate revenue equipment close to customers in high-density lanes and regions where we can
provide shippers with a consistent supply of capacity and match our equipment to customer needs. Our services

include multiple pick-ups and deliveries, dedicated equipment and personnel, on-time pickups and deliveries within

narrow time frames, specialized driver training, and other services. Brokerage services are tailored to meet our

customers’ needs. We price our services commensurately with the level of service our customers require and the

conditions in market demand. By providing customers a high level of service, we believe we avoid competing solely

on the basis of price.

Using Technology that Enhances Our Business. We purchase and deploy technology when we believe that it will

allow us to operate more efficiently and the investment is cost-justified. We use a satellite-based tracking and

communication system to communicate with our drivers, to obtain load position updates, and to provide our

customers with freight visibility. We have installed Qualcomm’s satellite-based tracking technology in substantially
all of our tractors, which allows us to rapidly respond to customer needs and allows our drivers efficient

communications with our regional terminals. Most of our trailers are equipped with Terion trailer-tracking

technology that allows us to manage our trailers more effectively, reduce the number of trailers per tractor in our

fleet, enhance revenue through detention fees, and minimize cargo loss. We have automated many of our back-office

functions, and we continue to invest in technology where it allows us to better serve our customers and reduce our

costs.
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Growth Strategy

We believe that industry trends, our strong operating results and financial position, and the proven operating model

replicated in our regional service centers create significant opportunities for us to grow. We intend to take advantage

of these growth opportunities by focusing on four key areas:

Opening new regions and expanding existing regional services centers. Over the past several years, a substantial

portion of our revenue growth has been generated by our expansion into new geographic regions through the

opening of additional service centers. We believe there are significant opportunities to further increase our business

in the short-to-medium haul market by opening additional regional service centers, while expanding our existing

regional service centers. To take advantage of these opportunities, we are developing relationships with existing and

new customers in regions that we believe will permit us to develop transportation lanes that allow us to achieve high

equipment utilization and result in operating efficiency.

Strengthening our customer and preferred provider relationships. We market our services to both existing and new

customers in traffic lanes that complement our existing operations and will support high equipment utilization. We

seek customers who will diversify our freight base; and our marketing targets include financially stable shippers for

whom we are not currently providing services. We also offer a high level of service to customers who use us as a
preferred provider.

Opportunities to make selected acquisitions. We are continuously evaluating acquisition opportunities. Since 1998,

we have acquired three short-to-medium haul truckload carriers: Idaho Falls-based Edwards Bros., Inc., acquired in

2005; Gulfport, Mississippi-based John Fayard Fast Freight, Inc., acquired in 2000; and Corsicana, Texas-based

Action Delivery Service, Inc., acquired in 1999. We continue to evaluate and consider acquisition opportunities that

meet our financial and operating criteria.

Diversifying our service offerings. Since the Company began operations in 1990, we have primarily focused on the

dry van transportation market. Beginning in 2004 we expanded our service offering to include the refrigerated

transportation market. In 2005, we expanded into yet another market when we began offering brokerage services.
We continue to evaluate opportunities to create synergies through other transportation related businesses.

Marketing and Customers

Our sales and marketing functions are led by members of our senior management team, who are assisted by other

sales professionals. Our sales team emphasizes our high level of service and ability to accommodate a variety of

customer needs. Our marketing efforts are designed to match the shipping needs of our current and potential

customers with our capacity in markets throughout the country.

We have a diversified customer base. For the year ended December 31, 2005, our top 25 customers represented 43%

of revenue; our top 10 customers represented 25% of revenue; and our top 5 customers represented 16% of revenue.

No single customer represented more than 10% of revenue in 2005. Most of our truckload carriage contracts are
cancelable on 30 days notice.

We seek to offer the service, value, and flexibility of a local provider, while possessing the capacity, strength, and

dependability of a large carrier. Our objective is to develop and service specified traffic lanes for customers who

ship on a consistent basis, thereby providing a sustained, predictable traffic flow and ensuring high equipment

utilization. The short-to-medium haul segment of the truckload carrier market demands timely pickup and delivery

and, in some cases, response on short notice. We try to obtain a competitive advantage by providing high quality

services and consistent capacity to customers. To be responsive to customers’ and drivers’ needs, we often assign

particular drivers and equipment to prescribed routes, providing better service to customers, while obtaining higher

equipment utilization.

Our dedicated fleet services also may provide a significant part of a customer’s transportation requirements. Under a

dedicated carriage service agreement, we provide drivers, equipment and maintenance, and, in some instances,

transportation management services that supplement the customer’s in-house transportation department. We furnish

these services through Company-provided revenue equipment and employees, and independent contractors.

Each of our regional service centers is linked to our Phoenix headquarters by an IBM AS/400 computer system. The

capabilities of this system enhance our operating efficiency by providing cost effective access to detailed

information concerning equipment and shipment status and specific customer requirements, and also permit us to

respond promptly and accurately to customer requests. The system also assists us in matching available equipment

with loads. We also provide electronic data interchange ("EDI") services to shippers desiring such service.
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Drivers, Other Employees, and Independent Contractors

As of December 31, 2005, we employed 3,531 persons. None of our employees is subject to a union contract. It is

our policy to comply with applicable equal employment opportunity laws and we periodically review our policies

and practices for equal employment opportunity compliance. The recruitment, training, and retention of qualified

drivers are essential to support our continued growth and to meet the service requirements of our customers. Drivers
are selected in accordance with specific, objective guidelines relating primarily to safety history, driving experience,

road test evaluations, and other personal evaluations, including physical examinations and mandatory drug and

alcohol testing.

We seek to maintain a qualified driver force by providing attractive and comfortable equipment, direct

communication with senior management, competitive wages and benefits, and other incentives designed to

encourage driver retention and long-term employment. Many drivers are assigned to dedicated or semi-dedicated

fleet operations, enhancing job predictability. Drivers are recognized for providing superior service and developing

good safety records.

Our drivers generally are compensated on the basis of miles driven and length of haul. Drivers also are compensated

for additional flexible services provided to our customers. During 2005, we increased our driver compensation rates
approximately three cents per mile. Drivers and other employees are invited to participate in our 401(k) program and

in Company-sponsored health, life, and dental plans. Our drivers and other employees who meet eligibility criteria

also participate in our stock option plan. As of December 31, 2005, a total of 1,094 of our current drivers and other

employees had participated in and received option grants under our current and former stock option plans.

We also maintain an independent contractor program. Because independent contractors provide their own tractors,

the independent contractor program provides us an alternate method of obtaining additional revenue equipment. We

intend to continue our use of independent contractors. As of December 31, 2005, we had agreements covering 237

tractors operated by independent contractors. Each independent contractor enters into a contract with us pursuant to

which the independent contractor is required to furnish a tractor and a driver to transport, load, and unload goods we

haul. During 2005, we increased our contracted rates approximately three cents per mile for these independent
contractors. Competition for independent contractors among transportation companies is strong. We pay our

independent contractors a fixed level of compensation based on the total of trip-loaded and empty miles. The

Company incurs no liability to independent contractors unless services are provided. Independent contractors are

obligated to maintain their own tractors and pay for their own fuel. We provide trailers for each independent

contractor. We also provide maintenance services, for a charge, for our independent contractors who desire such

services. In certain instances, we provide financing to independent contractors to assist them in acquiring revenue

equipment. Our loans to independent contractors are secured by a lien on the independent contractor’s revenue

equipment. As of December 31, 2005, we had outstanding loans of $584,388 (net of allowance for doubtful accounts

of $49,084) to independent contractors.

Revenue Equipment

As of December 31, 2005, we operated 3,034 Company tractors with an average age of 1.9 years. We also had under

contract 237 tractors owned and operated by independent contractors. Our trailer fleet consisted of 7,885, 53-foot

long, high cube trailers, including 392 refrigerated trailers, with an average age of 4.3 years.

Growth of our tractor and trailer fleets is determined by market conditions and our experience and expectations

regarding equipment utilization. In acquiring revenue equipment, we consider a number of factors, including

economy, price, rate, environment, technology, warranty terms, manufacturer support, driver comfort, and resale

value.

Our fleet configuration allows us to move freight on a "drop-and-hook" basis, increasing asset utilization and

providing better service to customers. We attempt to maintain a trailer to tractor ratio of approximately 2.5 to 1,
which we believe promotes efficiency and allows us to serve a large variety of customers’ needs without

significantly changing or modifying equipment.

We have adopted an equipment configuration that meets a wide variety of customer needs and facilitates customer

shipping flexibility. Standardization of our fleet allows us to operate with a smaller spare parts inventory and

simplifies driver training and equipment maintenance. We adhere to a comprehensive maintenance program that

minimizes downtime and optimizes the resale value of our equipment. We perform routine servicing and

maintenance of our equipment at most of our regional terminal facilities, thus avoiding costly on-road repairs and
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out-of-route trips. Our current policy is to replace most of our tractors within 36 to 42 months after purchase and to

replace our trailers over a six to ten year period. We believe this replacement policy enhances our ability to attract

drivers, stabilizes maintenance expense, and maximizes equipment utilization. Changes in the current market for

used tractors, and difficult market conditions faced by tractor manufacturers, may result in price increases that

would cause us to retain our equipment for a longer period, which may result in increased operating expenses.

In 2002, the Environmental Protection Agency (the " EPA") implemented regulations limiting exhaust emissions.

These regulations become progressively more restrictive in 2007 and 2010. In part to offset the costs of compliance

with these requirements, some manufacturers have significantly increased new equipment prices and further

increases may result in connection with the implementation of the 2007 and 2010 requirements. If new equipment

prices increase more than anticipated, we may be required to increase our depreciation and financing costs and/or

retain some of our equipment longer, with a resulting increase in maintenance expenses. To the extent we are unable

to offset any such increases in expenses with rate increases or cost savings, our results of operations would be

adversely affected. In addition to increases in equipment costs, the engines manufactured after October 2002

generally produce lower fuel mileage and require additional maintenance compared with earlier models and

compliance with the new standards could result in further declines in fuel economy. If we are unable to offset

resulting increases in fuel expenses with higher rates or surcharge revenue, our results of operations would be

adversely affected.

We have Qualcomm’s satellite-based mobile communication and position-tracking system in substantially all of our

tractors and we have Terion’s trailer-tracking system in a significant number of our trailers. We believe that this

technology has helped to generate operating efficiencies and allowed us to improve fleet control while maintaining a

high level of customer service.

Safety and Risk Management

We are committed to ensuring the safety of our operations. We regularly communicate with drivers to promote

safety and instill safe work habits through Company media and safety review sessions. We also regularly conduct

safety training meetings for our drivers, independent contractors, and non-driving personnel. Our Company
dedicates personnel and resources to ensure safe operation and regulatory compliance. We employ safety personnel

at every operating location who are responsible for administering the Company’s safety programs. We employ

technology to assist us in managing risks associated with our business. In addition, we have an innovative

recognition program for driver safety performance and emphasize safety through our equipment specifications and

maintenance programs. Our Vice President of Safety is involved in the review of all accidents.

We require prospective drivers to meet higher qualification standards than those required by the United States

Department of Transportation ("DOT"). The DOT requires drivers to obtain commercial drivers’ licenses pursuant

to regulations promulgated by the DOT. The DOT also requires that we implement a drug and alcohol testing

program in accordance with DOT regulations. Our program includes pre-employment, random, and post-accident

drug testing. We are authorized by the DOT to haul hazardous materials. As a result, we require our drivers to have

a "hazardous materials endorsement" ("HME") on their commercial drivers license. We also monitor our driver’s
compliance with the Department of Homeland Security’s new "Security Threat Assessment" regulation, which took

effect in 2005, when applying for or renewing an HME.

Within our Company, our President, Chief Financial Officer, and Vice President of Safety are responsible for

securing appropriate insurance coverage at competitive rates. The primary claims arising in our business consist of

cargo loss and physical damage and auto liability (personal injury and property damage). For 2005 we were self-

insured for these claims, including general liability claims, with a maximum limit of $1.5 million per occurrence,

and we were self-insured for workers’ compensation up to a maximum limit of $500,000 per occurrence. The same

self-insurance retentions were secured in early 2006 effective until February 1, 2007.

Our insurance policies for 2005 provided for excess liability coverage up to a total of $50.0 million per occurrence.
We also maintain primary and excess coverage for employee medical expenses, hospitalization, and damage to

physical properties. The Company’s self retention level for employee medical health was $150,000 per claimant in

2005 and was raised to $200,000 per claimant for 2006. We carefully monitor claims and participate actively in

claims estimates and adjustments. The estimated costs of our self-insured claims, which include estimates for

incurred but unreported claims, are accrued as liabilities on our balance sheet.
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Competition

The trucking industry is highly competitive and fragmented. We compete primarily with other regional short-to-

medium haul truckload carriers, logistics providers, and national carriers. Railroads and air freight also provide

competition, but to a lesser degree. Competition for the freight transported by us is based on freight rates, service,

efficiency, size, and technology. We also compete with other motor carriers for the services of drivers, independent
contractors and management employees. A number of our competitors have greater financial resources, own more

equipment, and carry a larger volume of freight than we do. We believe that the principal competitive factors in our

business are service, pricing (rates), and the availability and configuration of equipment that meets a variety of

customers’ needs. In addressing our markets, we believe that our principal competitive strength is our ability to

provide timely, flexible and cost-efficient service to shippers.

We believe that the cost and complexity of operating trucking fleets are increasing and that economic and

competitive pressures are likely to force many smaller competitors and private fleets to consolidate or exit the

industry over time. As a result, we believe that larger, better-capitalized companies, like us, will have opportunities

to increase profit margins and gain market share. In the market for dedicated services, we believe that truckload

carriers, like us, have a competitive advantage over truck lessors, who are the other major participants in the market,

because we can offer lower prices by utilizing back-haul freight within our network that traditional lessors may not
have.

Over the past two years our industry has enjoyed an improved pricing environment compared with our historical

experience. We believe that stronger freight demand and industry-wide capacity constraints caused by a shortage of

truck drivers and a lack of capital investment in additional revenue equipment by many carriers contributed to the

pricing environment. In addition, many shippers have recognized that the costs of operating in our industry have

increased significantly, particularly in the areas of driver compensation, revenue equipment, fuel, and insurance and

claims. The pricing environment may not remain favorable, and we may not continue to capitalize on any increases

in pricing.

Regulation

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations dealing with the hauling and handling of hazardous

materials, fuel storage tanks, air emissions from our vehicles and facilities, engine idling, discharge and retention of

storm water, and other environmental matters that import inherent environmental risks. We maintain bulk fuel

storage and fuel islands at several of our facilities. Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage,

environmental damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others. We have instituted programs to monitor and

control environmental risks and assure compliance with applicable environmental laws. As part of our safety and

risk management program, we periodically perform internal environmental reviews so we can achieve

environmental compliance and avoid environmental risk. Our facilities were designed, after consultation with

environmental advisors, to contain and properly dispose of hazardous substances and petroleum products used in

connection with our business. We transport a small amount of environmentally hazardous materials and, to date,

have experienced no significant claims for hazardous materials shipments. If we are found to be in violation of
applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to liabilities, including substantial fines or penalties or civil and

criminal liability, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Regulations limiting exhaust emissions became effective in 2002 and become progressively more restrictive in 2007

and 2010. Engines manufactured after October 2002 generally cost more, produce lower fuel mileage, and require

additional maintenance compared with earlier models. Substantially all of our tractors are equipped with these

engines. We expect additional cost increases and possibly degradation in fuel mileage from the 2007 engines. These

adverse effects, combined with the uncertainty as to the reliability of the newly designed diesel engines and the

residual values of these vehicles, could materially increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business or

operations.

Seasonality

Results of operations in the transportation industry frequently show a seasonal pattern, with lower revenue and

higher operating expenses being common in the winter months. Because we have historically operated in the

western and southern United States, winter weather has not adversely affected our overall business in a material

way. However, continued expansion of our operations throughout the United States could expose us to greater

operating variances due to periodic seasonal weather in other regions, which variance could have a materially

adverse effect on our operations.
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Acquisitions, Investments, and Dispositions

On August 12, 2005, we acquired 100% of the stock of Edwards Bros., Inc., an Idaho based temperature controlled

truckload carrier. The acquisition included 140 tractors and 224 trailers. The total purchase price has been allocated

to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair market values as of the

acquisition date in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 141 (SFAS No.141),
"Business Combinations". Goodwill has been recorded on the balance sheet for the amount which the purchase

price exceeded the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. The acquisition has been accounted for in our

results of operations since the acquisition date. The pro forma effect of the acquisition on our results of operations is

immaterial. In addition to the purchase price, the purchase agreement sets forth certain conditions upon which an

earn-out adjustment to the purchase price may be needed. Any adjustment for this potential earn-out is not expected

to be material.

We periodically examine investment opportunities in areas related to the transportation industry. Our investment

strategy is to add to shareholder value by investing in industry related businesses that will strengthen our overall

position in the transportation industry, minimize our exposure to start-up risk, and provide us with an opportunity to

realize a substantial return on our investment.

In 2003, we signed a partnership agreement with Transportation Resource Partners ("TRP"), which makes privately

negotiated equity investments. We are committed to pledge $5 million out of a portfolio total of approximately

$260 million, for about 1.9% ownership. At inception, the initial determination was that TRP did not constitute a

variable interest entity. In 2004, we contributed $850,000 of working capital to TRP. In 2005, we contributed an

additional $1,495,893, with a cumulative contribution of $2,345,893 as of December 31, 2005. We had an

approximate $2.7 million outstanding commitment to TRP as of December 31, 2005. An additional contribution of

$805,725 was made in January 2006.

In September 2005, we sold 100% of our investment interest in Concentrek, Inc. ("Concentrek"), which is a logistics

company based in Jenison, Michigan. We owned a 17% interest in Concentrek. We received proceeds from the sale

that satisfied all outstanding loans and investments in Concentrek, resulting in a net gain of approximately $600,000.

Other Information

We were incorporated in 1989 and our headquarters are located at 5601 West Buckeye Road, Phoenix, Arizona

85043. This Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K,

and all other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d)

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") can be obtained free of charge by visiting

our website at www.knighttrans.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into this Annual

Report on Form 10-K, and you should not consider information contained on our website to be part of this report.

Additionally, you may read all of the materials that we file with the SEC by visiting the SEC's Public Reference

Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. If you would like information about the operation of the
Public Reference Room, you may call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. You may also visit the SEC's website at

www.sec.gov. This site contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our

Company and other companies that file electronically with the SEC.

RISK FACTORS

Our future results may be affected by a number of factors over which we have little or no control. The following

issues, uncertainties, and risks, among others, should be considered in evaluating our business and growth outlook.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors that are largely out of our control.

Our business is dependent on a number of factors that may have a materially adverse effect on our results of

operations, many of which are beyond our control. The most significant of these factors are recessionary economic

cycles, changes in customers’ inventory levels, excess tractor or trailer capacity in comparison with shipping

demand, and downturns in customers’ business cycles. Economic conditions, particularly in market segments and

industries where we have a significant concentration of customers and in regions of the country where we have a

significant amount of business, that decrease shipping demand or increase the supply of tractors and trailers can

exert downward pressure on rates or equipment utilization, thereby decreasing asset productivity. Adverse economic

conditions also may harm our customers and their ability to pay for our services. Customers encountering adverse

economic conditions represent a greater potential for loss, and we may be required to increase our allowance for

doubtful accounts.
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We are also subject to increases in costs that are outside of our control that could materially reduce our profitability

if we are unable to increase our rates sufficiently. Such cost increases include, but are not limited to, declines in the

resale value of used equipment, increases in interest rates, fuel prices, taxes, tolls, license and registration fees,

insurance, revenue equipment, and healthcare for our employees. We could be affected by strikes or other work

stoppages at our facilities or at customer, port, border, or other shipping locations.

In addition, we cannot predict the effects on the economy or consumer confidence of actual or threatened armed

conflicts or terrorist attacks, efforts to combat terrorism, military action against a foreign state or group located in a

foreign state, or heightened security requirements. Enhanced security measures could impair our operating

efficiency and productivity and result in higher operating costs.

Our growth may not continue at historic rates.

We have experienced significant and rapid growth in revenue and profits since the inception of our business in 1990.

There can be no assurance that our business will continue to grow in a similar fashion in the future or that we can

effectively adapt our management, administrative, and operational systems to respond to any future growth. Further,

there can be no assurance that our operating margins will not be adversely affected by future changes in and
expansion of our business or by changes in economic conditions.

If the growth in our regional operations slows or stagnates, if we are unable to commit sufficient resources to

our regional operations, or if we were to expand into a market with insufficient economic activity or human

resources, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition to our regional service centers in Phoenix, Arizona, we have established dry van regional service centers

throughout the United States in order to serve markets in these regions. These regional operations require the

commitment of additional revenue equipment and personnel, as well as management resources, for future

development. Should the growth in our regional operations slow or stagnate, the results of our operations could be

adversely affected. As we continue to expand, we also may find the number of large cities that can support a service
center may diminish and we may expand into smaller cities where there is less economic activity and room for

growth and fewer driver and non-driver personnel to support the service center. We may encounter operating

conditions in these new markets that differ substantially from those previously experienced. There can be no

assurance that our regional operating strategy can be duplicated successfully in the other areas of the United States,

or perhaps outside the United States, or that it will not take longer than expected or require a more substantial

financial commitment than anticipated. In addition, we have recently commenced operation of temperature

controlled and brokerage services as part of our growth strategy and are subject to the risks inherent in entering new

lines of business, including but not limited to: unfamiliarity with pricing, service, operational, and liability issues;

the risk that customer relationships may be difficult to obtain or that we may have to reduce rates to gain customer

relationships; the risk that the specialized refrigerated equipment may not be adequately utilized; and the risk that

cargo claims may exceed our past experience.

Ongoing insurance and claims expenses could significantly reduce our earnings.

Our future insurance and claims expense might exceed historical levels, which could reduce our earnings. We self-

insure for a portion of our claims exposure resulting from workers’ compensation, auto liability, general liability,

cargo and property damage claims, as well as employees’ health insurance. We also are responsible for our legal

expenses relating to such claims. We reserve currently for anticipated losses and expenses. We periodically evaluate

and adjust our claims reserves to reflect our experience. However, ultimate results may differ from our estimates,

which could result in losses over our reserved amounts.

We maintain insurance above the amounts for which we self-insure with licensed insurance carriers. Although we

believe the aggregate insurance limits should be sufficient to cover reasonably expected claims, it is possible that
one or more claims could exceed our aggregate coverage limits. Insurance carriers have raised premiums for many

businesses, including trucking companies. As a result, our insurance and claims expense could increase, or we could

raise our self-insured retention when our policies are renewed. If these expenses increase, or if we experience a

claim in excess of our coverage limits, or we experience a claim for which coverage is not provided, results of our

operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
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Increased prices, reduced productivity, and restricted availability of new revenue equipment may adversely

affect our earnings and cash flows.

We have experienced higher prices for new tractors over the past few years, partially as a result of government

regulations applicable to newly manufactured tractors and diesel engines, in addition to higher commodity prices

and better pricing power among equipment manufacturers. More restrictive Environmental Protection Agency, or
EPA, emissions standards for 2007 will require vendors to introduce new engines, and some carriers may seek to

purchase large numbers of tractors with pre-2007 engines, possibly leading to shortages. Our business could be

harmed if we are unable to continue to obtain an adequate supply of new tractors and trailers for these or other

reasons. As a result, we expect to continue to pay increased prices for equipment and incur additional expenses and

related financing costs for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the new engines are expected to reduce equipment

productivity and lower fuel mileage and, therefore, increase our operating expenses.

We have trade-in and/or repurchase commitments that specify, among other things, what our primary equipment

vendors will pay us for disposal of a substantial portion of our revenue equipment. The prices we expect to receive

under these arrangements may be higher than the prices we would receive in the open market. We may suffer a

financial loss upon disposition of our equipment if these vendors refuse or are unable to meet their financial

obligations under these agreements, if we fail to enter into definitive agreements that reflect the terms we expect, if
we fail to enter into similar arrangements in the future, or if we do not purchase the required number of replacement

units from the vendors.

If fuel prices increase significantly, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are subject to risk with respect to purchases of fuel. Prices and availability of petroleum products are subject to

political, economic, and market factors that are generally outside our control. Political events in the Middle East,

Venezuela, and elsewhere and hurricanes, and other weather-related events, also may cause the price of fuel to

increase. Because our operations are dependent upon diesel fuel, significant increases in diesel fuel costs could

materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition if we are unable to pass increased

costs on to customers through rate increases or fuel surcharges. Historically, we have sought to recover a portion of
short-term increases in fuel prices from customers through fuel surcharges. Fuel surcharges that can be collected do

not always fully offset the increase in the cost of diesel fuel. To the extent we are not successful in these

negotiations, our results of operations may be adversely affected.

Difficulty in driver and independent contractor recruitment and retention may have a materially adverse

effect on our business.

Difficulty in attracting or retaining qualified drivers, including independent contractors, could have a materially

adverse effect on our growth and profitability. Our independent contractors are responsible for paying for their own

equipment, fuel, and other operating costs, and significant increases in these costs could cause them to seek higher

compensation from us or seek other opportunities within or outside the trucking industry. In addition, competition

for drivers, which is always intense, continues to increase. If a shortage of drivers should continue, or if we were
unable to continue to attract and contract with independent contractors, we could be forced to limit our growth,

experience an increase in the number of our tractors without drivers, which would lower our profitability, or be

required to further adjust our driver compensation package, which could adversely affect our profitability if not

offset by a corresponding increase in rates.

We operate in a highly regulated industry, and increased costs of compliance with, or liability for violation of,

existing or future regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various U.S. agencies. Our company drivers and independent

contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the United States Department of

Transportation, or DOT, including those relating to drug and alcohol testing and hours-of-service. Such matters as
weight and equipment dimensions are also subject to U.S. regulations. We also may become subject to new or more

restrictive regulations relating to fuel emissions, drivers' hours-of-service, ergonomics, or other matters affecting

safety or operating methods. Other agencies, such as the EPA and the Department of Homeland Security, or DHS,

also regulate our equipment, operations, and drivers. Future laws and regulations may be more stringent and require

changes in our operating practices, influence the demand for transportation services, or require us to incur

significant additional costs. Higher costs incurred by us or by our suppliers who pass the costs onto us through

higher prices could adversely affect our results of operations.
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The DOT, through the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration Act, or FMCSA, imposes safety and fitness

regulations on us and our drivers. New rules that limit driver hours-of-service were adopted effective January 4,

2004, and then modified effective October 1, 2005. The rules effective October 1, 2005, did not substantially change

the existing rules but are likely to create a moderate reduction in the amount of time available to drivers in longer

lengths of haul, which could reduce equipment productivity in those lanes. The FMCSA is studying rules relating to

braking distance and on-board data recorders that could result in new rules being proposed. We are unable to predict
the effect of any rules that might be proposed, but we expect that any such proposed rules would increase costs in

our industry, and the on-board recorders potentially could decrease productivity and the number of people interested

in being drivers.

In the aftermath of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, federal, state, and municipal authorities have

implemented and continue to implement various security measures, including checkpoints and travel restrictions on

large trucks. The Transportation Security Administration, or TSA, of the DHS has adopted regulations that require

determination by the TSA that each driver who applies for or renews his license for carrying hazardous materials is

not a security threat. This could reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which could require us to increase driver

compensation, limit our fleet growth, or let trucks sit idle. These regulations also could complicate the matching of

available equipment with hazardous material shipments, thereby increasing our response time on customer orders

and our non-revenue miles. As a result, it is possible we may fail to meet the needs of our customers or may incur
increased expenses to do so. These security measures could negatively impact our operating results.

Some states and municipalities have begun to restrict the locations and amount of time where diesel-powered

tractors, such as ours, may idle, in order to reduce exhaust emissions. These restrictions could force us to alter our

drivers’ behavior, purchase on-board power units that do not require the engine to idle, or face a decrease in

productivity.

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result

in substantial fines or penalties.

In addition to direct regulation by the DOT and other agencies, we are subject to various environmental laws and
regulations dealing with the handling of hazardous materials, underground fuel storage tanks and discharge and

retention of storm-water. We operate in industrial areas, where truck terminals and other industrial facilities are

located, and where groundwater or other forms of environmental contamination have occurred. Our operations

involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others.

Two of our terminal facilities are located adjacent to environmental "superfund" sites. Although we have not been

named as a potentially responsible party in either case, we are potentially exposed to claims that we may have

contributed to environmental contamination in the areas in which we operate. We also maintain bulk fuel storage

and fuel islands at several of our facilities.

Our Phoenix facility is located on land identified as potentially having groundwater contamination resulting from the

release of hazardous substances by persons who have operated in the general vicinity. The area has been classified

as a state superfund site. We have been located at our Phoenix facility since 1990 and, during such time, have not
been identified as a potentially responsible party with regard to the groundwater contamination, and we do not

believe that our operations have been a source of groundwater contamination.

Our Indianapolis property is located approximately 0.1 of a mile east of Reilly Tar and Chemical Corporation

("Reilly"), a federal superfund site listed on the National Priorities List for clean-up. The Reilly site has known soil

and groundwater contamination. There also are other sites in the general vicinity of our Indianapolis property that

have known contamination. Environmental reports obtained by us have disclosed no evidence that activities on our

Indianapolis property have caused or contributed to the area’s contamination.

If we are involved in a spill or other accident involving hazardous substances, or if we are found to be in violation of

applicable laws or regulations, it could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results. If we
should fail to comply with applicable environmental regulations, we could be subject to substantial fines or penalties

and to civil and criminal liability.

Our business also is subject to the effects of new tractor engine design requirements implemented by the EPA such

as those that became effective October 1, 2002, and are expected to become effective in 2007 which are discussed

above under "Risk Factors – Increased prices for, or increased costs of operating, new revenue equipment may

materially and adversely affect our earnings and cash flow." Additional changes in the laws and regulations

governing or impacting our industry could affect the economics of the industry by requiring changes in operating

practices or by influencing the demand for, and the costs of providing, services to shippers.
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We may not make acquisitions in the future, or if we do, we may not be successful in integrating the acquired

company, either of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Historically, acquisitions have been a part of our growth. There is no assurance that we will be successful in

identifying, negotiating, or consummating any future acquisitions. If we fail to make any future acquisitions, our
growth rate could be materially and adversely affected. Any acquisitions we undertake could involve the dilutive

issuance of equity securities and/or incurring indebtedness. In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks,

including difficulties in assimilating the acquired company's operations, the diversion of our management's attention

from other business concerns, risks of entering into markets in which we have had no or only limited direct

experience, and the potential loss of customers, key employees, and drivers of the acquired company, all of which

could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results. If we make acquisitions in the future,

we cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully integrate the acquired companies or assets into our

business.

As we expand into new regions, we may experience greater operating variances due to the seasonal pattern of

the transportation industry, which may have a materially adverse effect on our operations.

Results of operations in the transportation industry frequently show a seasonal pattern, with lower revenue and

higher operating expenses being common in the winter months. Because we have historically operated in the

western and southern United States, winter weather has not adversely affected our overall business in a material

way. However, continued expansion of our operations throughout the United States could expose us to greater

operating variances due to periodic seasonal weather in other regions, which variance could have a materially

adverse effect on our operations.

If we are unable to retain our key employees or find, develop, and retain service center managers, our

business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We are highly dependent upon the services of the following key employees: Kevin P. Knight, our Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer; Timothy M. Kohl, our President and Secretary; Gary J. Knight, our Vice

Chairman of the Board; Keith T. Knight, our Executive Vice President; Casey Comen, our Executive Vice President

of Sales; Erick Kutter, our President of Knight Refrigerated, LLC; and David Jackson, our Chief Financial Officer.

We currently do not have employment agreements with any of these key employees, and the loss of any of their

services could negatively impact our operations and future profitability. We must, because of our regional operating

strategy, continue to find, develop, and retain service center managers if we are to realize our goal of expanding our

operations and continuing our growth. Failing to find, develop, and retain a core group of service center managers

could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

We are highly dependent on a few major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have a materially

adverse effect on our business.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from a limited number of major customers. For the year ended

December 31, 2005, our top 25 customers, based on revenue, accounted for approximately 43% of our revenue; our

top 10 customers, approximately 25% of our revenue; and our top 5 customers, approximately 16% of our revenue.

Generally, we do not have long term contractual relationships with our major customers, and we cannot assure you

that our customer relationships will continue as presently in effect. A reduction in or termination of our services by

one or more of our major customers could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.

If our investment in Transportation Resource Partner ("TRP") is not successful, we may be forced to further

write off part or all of our investment which could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

We have invested in TRP, a company that makes privately negotiated equity investments. We have recorded a
write-off of a portion of our investment due to portfolio losses. If TRP’s financial position continues to decline, we

could be forced to further write down all or part of our investment which could have a materially adverse effect on

our operating results.
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We are dependent on computer and communications systems, and a systems failure could cause a significant

disruption to our business.

Our business depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our computer and communications hardware

systems and infrastructure. We currently maintain our computer system at our Phoenix, Arizona headquarters, along

with computer equipment at our regional facilities. Our operations and those of our technology and communications
service providers are vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure, terrorist

attacks, Internet failures, computer viruses, and other events beyond our control. In 2005, in an attempt to reduce

the risk of disruption to our business operations should a disaster occur, we purchased redundant computer systems

and networks and deployed the backup systems to a back-up facility. However, that facility may be subject to the

same interruptions as may affect our Phoenix headquarters. In the event of a significant system failure, our business

could experience significant disruption.

PROPERTIES

Our headquarters and principal place of business is located at 5601 West Buckeye Road, Phoenix, Arizona on

approximately 75 acres. The following table provides information regarding the Company’s facilities and/or offices:

Company Location Office Shop Fuel Owned or Leased Acres

Phoenix, Arizona Yes Yes Yes Owned 75

Tulare, California Yes Yes No Owned 23

Salt Lake City, Utah Yes Yes No Owned 15

Portland, Oregon Yes Yes Yes Owned 7

Denver, Colorado Yes No No Leased 3

Kansas City, Kansas Yes Yes Yes Owned 15

Katy, Texas Yes Yes Yes Owned 12

Indianapolis, Indiana Yes Yes Yes Owned 9

Charlotte, North Carolina Yes Yes Yes Owned 21
Gulfport, Mississippi Yes Yes Yes Owned 8

Memphis, Tennessee Yes Yes Yes Owned 18

Atlanta, Georgia Yes Yes No Leased 7

Las Vegas, Nevada Yes No No Leased 2

Carlisle, Pennsylvania Yes No No Leased 5

Lakeland, Florida Yes No No Leased 2

Chicago, Illinois Yes No No Leased 2

El Paso, Texas Yes No No Leased 8

Idaho Falls, Idaho Yes Yes Yes Leased 6

Reno, Nevada Yes No No Leased 1

After the year ended December 31, 2005, we leased additional facilities in Seattle, Washington and Green Bay,

Wisconsin. In addition, we lease space in various locations for temporary trailer storage. Management believes that

replacement space comparable to these facilities is readily obtainable, if necessary. We lease excess trailer drop

space at several of our facilities to other carriers.

We believe that our facilities are suitable and adequate for our present needs. We periodically seek to improve our

facilities or identify new favorable locations.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a party to ordinary, routine litigation and administrative proceedings incidental to our business. These

proceedings primarily involve claims for personal injury or property damage incurred in the transportation of freight
and for personnel matters. We maintain insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight in

amounts in excess of self-insurance retentions.
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SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

A Special Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company (the "Special Meeting") was held on Wednesday, December

21, 2005 at which the holders of 43,344,639 shares of common stock of the Company, or 75.92%, were present in

person or by proxy, constituting a quorum. The proposal to approve the Company's 2005 Executive Cash Bonus

Plan (the "Cash Bonus Plan") and the proposal to amend the Company's 2003 Stock Option Plan (the "Amended
2003 Plan") were both approved at the Special Meeting, with each proposal receiving more than 98% of the votes.

The proposal to approve the Cash Bonus Plan received the following votes:

For 42,640,576 98.38%

Against 614,015 1.42%

Abstain 89,958 .21%

The proposal to approve the Amended 2003 Plan received the following votes:

For 42,786,605 98.71%

Against 468,698 1.08%
Abstain 89,336 .21%

A description of each of the proposals follows.

The Cash Bonus Plan

On August 19, 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, composed entirely of outside directors

as required by Section 162(m) of the Code, adopted the Cash Bonus Plan. The Cash Bonus Plan provides annual

incentives to certain senior executive officers in a manner designed to reinforce our performance goals; to link a

significant portion of participants' compensation to the achievement of such goals; and to continue to attract,

motivate, and retain key executives on a competitive basis, while seeking to preserve for the benefit of the
Company, to the extent practicable, the associated federal income tax deduction for payments of qualified

"performance-based" compensation for years after 2005.

The Amended 2003 Plan

On August 19, 2005, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors adopted the Amended 2003 Plan,

subject to the approval by our shareholders. The Amended 2003 Plan establishes a limit on the number of shares

with respect to which options may be granted to any one plan participant during a calendar year, which allowed us to

give Kevin Knight, our Chief Executive Officer, a one-time grant of an option to purchase 500,000 shares of our

common stock. The one-time option grant was made in recognition of Mr. Knight's past services and reflected the

Compensation Committee's determination that Mr. Knight's compensation package in the past had been lower than

was warranted by our financial performance, trucking industry practices, and the practices followed by growth
companies in other industries. The Amended 2003 Plan also is intended to ensure compliance with the requirements

of Section 162(m) of the Code. Compliance with Section 162(m) enables us to deduct compensation associated with

awards under the plan which qualifies as "performance-based" for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code.
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MARKET FOR COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is traded under the symbol KNX on The New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). Prior to

December 30, 2004, our common stock was traded under the symbol KNGT on The NASDAQ Stock Market -

National Market System ("NASDAQ-NMS"). The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and

low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by the NYSE, adjusted to reflect 3-for-2 stock splits,
effected in the form of a 50% stock dividend, on December 23, 2005 and July 20, 2004.

2004 High Low

First Quarter $12.28 $ 9.90

Second Quarter $12.78 $10.12

Third Quarter $14.66 $11.95

Fourth Quarter $17.19 $14.21

2005 High Low

First Quarter $19.05 $14.63

Second Quarter $17.17 $13.83

Third Quarter $17.59 $14.67

Fourth Quarter $22.51 $15.47

As of February 2, 2006, we had 69 shareholders of record. However, we believe that many additional holders of our

common stock are unidentified because a substantial number of shares are held of record by brokers or dealers for

their customers in street names.

Starting in December 2004, and in each consecutive quarter since, we have paid a cash dividend of $.02 per share on

our common stock, including our most recent dividend, which was declared in December 2005 and paid in the first

quarter of 2006. We currently expect to continue to pay quarterly cash dividends in the future. Future payment of

cash dividends, and the amount of any such dividends, will depend upon our financial condition, results of

operations, cash requirements, tax treatment, and certain corporate law requirements, as well as other factors deemed

relevant by our Board of Directors.

See "Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans" under the heading "Security Ownership

of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters" of this Annual Report for certain

information concerning shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presented below as of the end of, and for, each of the years in the five-year

period ended December 31, 2005, are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. The information set forth

below should be read in conjunction with "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations," below, and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this Annual
Report.

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts and operating data)

Statements of Income Data:

Revenue, before fuel surcharge $498,996 $411,717 $326,856 $279,360 $241,679

Fuel surcharge 67,817 30,571 13,213 6,430 9,139

Total revenue 566,813 442,288 340,069 285,790 250,818

Operating expenses 465,118 362,926 280,620 238,296 211,266

Income from operations 101,695 79,362 59,449 47,494 39,552

Other income (expense) 1,019 (7) 398 (651) (149) (7,485) (2) 

Income before income taxes 102,714 79,760 58,798 47,345 32,067 (2) 

Net income 61,714 47,860 35,458 27,935 19,017 (2) 

Diluted earnings per share (1) .71 .55 .41 .33 .23 (2) 

Balance Sheet Data (at End of

Period):

Working capital $66,129 $63,327 $69,916 $64,255 $ 51,749

Total assets 483,827 402,867 321,226 284,844 241,114

Long-term obligations, net of

current maturities

-- -- -- 12,200 2,715

Cash dividend per share on

common stock

.08 .02 -- -- --

Shareholders’ equity 352,928 291,017 239,923 199,657 167,696

Operating Data (Unaudited):

Operating ratio (3) 82.1% 82.1% 82.5% 83.4% 84.2%

Operating ratio, excluding fuel

surcharge (4) 
79.6% 80.7% 81.8% 83.0% 83.6%

Average freight revenue per total

mile (5) 
$1.46 $1.37 $1.28 $1.24 $1.23

Average length of haul (miles) 580 556 532 543 527

Empty mile factor 11.7% 11.5% 10.8% 10.7% 10.9%

Tractors operated at end of

period (6) 
3,271 2,818 2,418 2,125 1,897

Trailers operated at end of period 7,885 7,126 6,212 5,441 4,898

(1) Diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003, 2002, and 2001 have been restated to reflect 3-for-2 stock splits on

December 23, 2005; July 20, 2004; December 28, 2001; and June 1, 2001, as applicable.
(2) Includes a pre-tax, non-cash write-off of $5.7 million in 2001 relating to an investment in Terion, Inc.
(3) Operating expenses as a percentage of total revenue.
(4) Operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge, as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge. Management

believes that eliminating the impact of this sometimes volatile source of revenue affords a more consistent

basis for comparing our results of operations from period to period.
(5) Average freight revenue per mile based upon total revenue, exclusive of fuel surcharge.
(6) Includes: (a) 237 independent contract operated vehicles at December 31, 2005; (b) 244 independent contract

operated vehicles at December 31, 2004; (c) 253 independent contract operated vehicles at December 31,

2003; (d) 209 independent contractor operated vehicles at December 31, 2002; and (e) 200 independent

contractor operated vehicles at December 31, 2001.
(7) Other income (expense) for 2005 includes the following: (a) $658 interest income; (b) $591 gain from sale of

Concentrek; and (c) $230 impairment loss from TRP Investment.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATION

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Except for certain historical information contained herein, the following discussion contains forward-looking

statements that involve risks, assumptions and uncertainties which are difficult to predict. All statements, other than

statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without

limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and

objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments;

any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any

statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Words such as "believe," "may," "could," "expects,"

"hopes," "anticipates," and "likely," and variations of these words, or similar expressions, are intended to identify

such forward-looking statements. Actual events or results could differ materially from those discussed in forward-

looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to those

discussed in the section entitled "Risk Factors," set forth above. We do not assume, and specifically disclaim, any

obligation to update any forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report.

Introduction

Business Overview

We are primarily a truckload carrier based in Phoenix, Arizona. We transport general commodities for shippers

throughout the United States, generally focusing our operations on a short-to-medium length of haul. We provide

regional truckload carrier services from our regional dry van service centers, and from our temperature controlled

service centers. During 2005 we began providing brokerage services. The results of the brokerage activities were

relatively immaterial for 2005 and therefore a detailed discussion of the financial results of these operations will not

be separately presented. At December 31, 2005, we operated 20 dry van service centers, two temperature controlled

service centers, and two brokerage service centers. In early 2006, we added three new service centers. We presently

have 21 dry van service centers, three temperature controlled service centers, and three brokerage service centers.

Over the past five years we have achieved substantial revenue and income growth. During this period, our revenue,

before fuel surcharge, grew at a 20% compounded annual rate from $241.7 million in 2001 to $499.0 million in

2005, and our net income grew at a 34% compounded annual rate from $19.0 million in 2001 to $61.7 million in
2005.

Operating and Growth Strategy

Our operating strategy is focused on the following core elements:

• Focusing on Regional Operations. We seek to operate primarily in high density, predictable traffic lanes in

selected geographic regions. We believe our regional operations allow us to obtain greater freight volumes and

higher revenue per mile, and also enhance safety and driver recruitment and retention.

• Maintaining Operating Efficiencies and Controlling Costs. We focus almost exclusively on operating in distinct

geographic and shipping markets in order to achieve increased penetration of targeted service areas and higher

equipment utilization in dense traffic lanes. We actively seek to control costs by, among other things, operating a
modern equipment fleet, maintaining a high driver to non-driver employee ratio, and regulating vehicle speed.

• Providing a High Level of Customer Service. We seek to compete on the basis of service, in addition to price, and

offer our customers a broad range of services to meet their specific needs, including multiple pick ups and

deliveries, on time pick ups and deliveries within narrow time frames, dedicated fleet and personnel, and

specialized driver training.

• Using Technology to Enhance Our Business. Our tractors are equipped with a satellite based tracking and

communications system to permit us to stay in contact with our drivers, obtain load position updates, and provide

our customers with freight visibility. A significant number of our trailers are equipped with tracking technology to

allow us to manage our trailers more effectively, maintain a low trailer to tractor ratio, efficiently assess detention

fees, and minimize cargo loss.

The primary source of our revenue growth has been our ability to open and develop new regional service centers in

selected geographic areas and operate them at or near our targeted margins within a relatively short period of time.

During 2005, we established regional dry van service centers in Chicago, Illinois; El Paso, Texas; and Reno,

Nevada. Our temperature controlled service centers were increased by the acquisition in 2005 of Edwards Bros.,

Inc., in Idaho Falls, Idaho. We also established brokerage service centers in Idaho Falls, Idaho and Phoenix,

Arizona, during 2005. Based on our current expectations concerning the economy, we anticipate opening six or

seven additional regional service centers in 2006 and adding approximately 500 new tractors system-wide during the

year. As part of our growth strategy, we also periodically evaluate acquisition opportunities, and we will continue to

consider acquisitions that meet our financial and operating criteria.
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Revenue and Expenses

We primarily generate revenue by transporting freight for our customers. Generally, we are paid a predetermined

rate per mile or per load for our services. We enhance our revenue by charging for tractor and trailer detention,

loading and unloading activities, and other specialized services, as well as through the collection of fuel surcharges
to mitigate the impact of increases in the cost of fuel. The main factors that affect our revenue are the revenue per

mile we receive from our customers, the percentage of miles for which we are compensated, and the number of

miles we generate with our equipment. These factors relate, among other things, to the general level of economic

activity in the United States, inventory levels, specific customer demand, the level of capacity in the trucking

industry, and driver availability.

Historically, excess capacity in the transportation industry had limited our ability to improve rates. However,

beginning in 2003 continuing through 2005, the United States economy experienced growth, which, together with

tighter capacity, contributed to higher freight rates throughout much of the industry, including a 7.0% improvement

in our average revenue per loaded mile (excluding fuel surcharge) from 2004 to 2005.

The main factors that impact our profitability in terms of expenses are the variable costs of transporting freight for
our customers. These costs include fuel expense, driver-related expenses, such as wages, benefits, training, and

recruitment, and independent contractor costs, which are recorded on the "Purchased Transportation" line of our

consolidated statements of income. Expenses that have both fixed and variable components include maintenance and

tire expense and our total cost of insurance and claims. These expenses generally vary with the miles we travel, but

also have a controllable component based on safety, fleet age, efficiency, and other factors. Our main fixed costs are

the acquisition and financing of long-term assets, such as revenue equipment and terminal facilities and the

compensation of non-driver personnel. Effectively controlling our expenses is an important element of assuring our

profitability. The primary measure we use to evaluate our profitability is operating ratio, excluding the impact of

fuel surcharge revenue (operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge, as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge).

We view any operating ratio, whether for the Company or any service center, in excess of 85% as unacceptable

performance in the current environment.

Recent Results of Operations and Year-End Financial Condition

For the year ended December 31, 2005, our results of operations improved as follows versus the 2004 fiscal year:

• Revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased 21%, to $499.0 million from $411.7 million;

• Net income increased 29%, to $61.7 million from $47.9 million; and

• Net income per diluted share increased to $0.71 from $0.55.

We believe the improvements in our profitability are attributable primarily to higher average revenue per tractor per

week (excluding fuel surcharge), our main measure of asset productivity, which increased 3.6%, to $3,156 in 2005

from $3,045 in 2004. This improvement was driven by a 7.0% increase in average revenue per loaded mile
(excluding fuel surcharge) to $1.654 from $1.546, offset by a 2.1% decrease in average miles per tractor to 112,382

from 114,829. We were able to increase our average revenue per loaded mile due to strong freight demand and a

solid rate environment in 2005 brought on by growth in the U.S. economy and a favorable relationship between

demand and trucking capacity. We also experienced a slight increase in the percentage of non-revenue miles, to

11.7% in 2005 from 11.5% in 2004, mainly due to the positioning of our revenue equipment in areas which allowed

us to capitalize on the most favorable freight in terms of higher rates.

During 2005, we grew our fleet by adding 453 new tractors, and we periodically experienced temporary challenges

attracting a sufficient number of drivers to optimize utilization of our expanding tractor fleet. In response to this

challenge, we placed additional emphasis on our driver recruiting and retention efforts. This emphasis on recruiting

and retention, combined with increases in driver compensation in 2005 totaling three cents per mile have resulted in
nearly all of our trucks being fully seated at year end 2005.

At December 31, 2005 our balance sheet reflected $18.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, $2.3 million in short

term investments, no debt, and shareholders’ equity of $352.9 million. For the year, we generated $107.8 million in

cash flow from operations and used $103.6 million for net capital expenditures.
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Our liquidity is not materially affected by off-balance sheet transactions. Like many other trucking companies,

periodically we have utilized operating leases to finance a portion of our revenue equipment acquisitions. We have

28 tractors under operating leases at December 31, 2005. Future operating lease commitments as of December 31,

2005 was $1.6 million.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage relationships of our expense items to total revenue and revenue, before

fuel surcharge, for each of the three fiscal years indicated below. Fuel expense as a percentage of revenue, before

fuel surcharge, is calculated using fuel expense, net of surcharge. Management believes that eliminating the impact

of this sometimes volatile source of revenue affords a more consistent basis for comparing our results of operations

from period to period.

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Total revenue Revenue, before fuel surcharge

Operating expenses: Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 28.7 30.3 30.8 Salaries, wages and benefits 32.6 32.5 32.0

Fuel (1) 23.6 19.2 16.6 Fuel (1) 13.2 13.2 13.3
Operations and maintenance 6.1 6.0 6.0 Operations and maintenance 6.9 6.4 6.2
Insurance and claims 4.4 5.0 4.9 Insurance and claims 5.0 5.4 5.1

Operating taxes and licenses 2.2 2.2 2.7 Operating taxes and licenses 2.5 2.4 2.8
Communications 0.8 0.8 0.9 Communications 0.9 0.9 0.9
Depreciation and amortization 9.3 9.2 8.8 Depreciation and amortization 10.5 9.9 9.2

Lease expense – revenue equipment 0.0 0.7 2.3 Lease expense – revenue equipment 0.0 0.7 2.4
Purchased transportation 5.6 6.6 7.4 Purchased transportation 6.4 7.1 7.7
(Gain) Loss on Sale of Equipment (0.5) 0.0 0.0 (Gain) Loss on Sale of Equipment (0.6) 0.0 0.0

Miscellaneous operating expenses 1.9 2.1 2.1 Miscellaneous operating expenses 2.2 2.2 2.2

Total operating expenses 82.1 82.1 82.5 Total operating expenses 79.6 80.7 81.8

Income from operations 17.9 17.9 17.5 Income from operations 20.4 19.3 18.2
Net interest and other income (expense) 0.2 0.1 (0.2) Net interest and other income (expense) 0.2 0.1 (0.2)

Income before income taxes 18.1 18.0 17.3 Income before income taxes 20.6 19.4 18.0
Income taxes 7.2 7.2 6.9 Income taxes 8.2 7.8 7.1

Net Income 10.9% 10.8% 10.4% Net Income 12.4% 11.6% 10.9%

(1) Net of fuel surcharge.

A discussion of our results of operations for the periods 2005 to 2004 and 2004 to 2003 is set forth below.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Total revenue for 2005 increased 28.2% to $566.8 million from $442.3 million for 2004. Total revenue included

$67.8 million of fuel surcharge revenue in 2005 and $30.6 million of fuel surcharge revenue in 2004. In discussing
our results of operations we use revenue, before fuel surcharge (and fuel expense, net of surcharge), because

management believes that eliminating the impact of this sometimes volatile source of revenue affords a more

consistent basis for comparing our results of operations from period to period. We also discuss the changes in our

expenses as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, rather than absolute dollar changes. We do this because

we believe the high variable cost nature of our business makes a comparison of changes in expenses as a percentage

of revenue more meaningful than absolute dollar changes.

Revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased 21.2% to $499.0 million for 2005, up from $411.7 million in 2004. This

increase is due to the combination of fleet expansion, improved revenue per mile, the opening of three additional dry

van regional service centers, opening of a brokerage service center in July 2005, and the acquisition of Edwards

Bros., Inc. ("Edwards Bros."), a temperature controlled carrier in August 2005. Revenue generated from Edwards
Bros. accounted for approximately 13% of the total increase. As a result of the expansion, our tractor fleet grew 16%

to 3,271 tractors (including 237 owned by independent contractors) as of December 31, 2005, from 2,818 tractors.

The growth in the fleet, coupled with improved freight demand, and a 3.6% increase in average revenue per tractor

per week in 2005 over 2004, resulted in the significant period-over-period improvement in freight revenue. These

improvements were partially offset by a 2.1% decrease in average miles per tractor and a 1.7% increase in our

percentage of non-revenue miles.
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Salaries, wages and benefits expense increased slightly as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 32.6%

in 2005 from 32.5% in 2004. The increase is primarily due to increases in driver pay rates implemented in 2005,

along with an increase in the percentage of our fleet operated by company drivers, as opposed to independent

contractors. Amounts paid to independent contractors for hauling freight are recorded on the "Purchased

Transportation" line of our consolidated statements of income. For the year ended December 31, 2005, an average of

92.3% of our fleet was operated by company drivers, compared to an average of 90.6% for the year ended December
31, 2004. For our drivers, we record accruals for workers’ compensation benefits as a component of our claims

accrual, and the related expense is reflected in salaries, wages and benefits in our consolidated statements of income.

Fuel expense, net of fuel surcharge, remained constant as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, at 13.2%

for both 2005 and 2004. This was mainly due to improved collection of fuel surcharge revenue during 2005, which

offset higher fuel prices. We maintain a fuel surcharge program to assist us in recovering a portion of increased fuel

costs. For the year ended December 31, 2005, fuel surcharge was $67.8 million, compared to $30.6 million for the

same period in 2004. As a percentage of total revenue, including fuel surcharge, fuel expense increased to 23.6% in

2005, compared to 19.2% in 2004, as a result of higher fuel prices. We believe that higher fuel prices may continue

to adversely affect our operating expenses throughout 2006 and that continued unrest in the Middle East and other

areas, in addition to hurricanes and other weather-related events, also may cause the price of fuel to increase.

Operations and maintenance expense increased as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 6.9% for 2005

from 6.4% in 2004. This increase is mainly due to an increase in the percentage of company owned tractors, which

led to higher operating expenses. The percentage of company owned tractors increased to an average of 92.3% for

2005, from 90.6% in 2004. The average age of our revenue equipment at year-end remained at 1.9 years for both

2005 and 2004.

Insurance and claims expense decreased as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 5.0% for 2005,

compared to 5.4% for 2004. The decrease is due to better claims experience and lower claims costs in 2005.

Operating taxes and license expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased slightly to 2.5% for

2005 from 2.4% for 2004. The slight increase is primarily due to growth of our Company fleet, which was mostly
offset by improvements in average revenue per tractor in 2005.

Communications expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained constant at 0.9% for both

2005 and 2004.

Depreciation and amortization expense, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, increased to 10.5% for

2005 from 9.9% in 2004. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense is offset by a corresponding

decrease in lease expense for revenue equipment and purchased transportation. During the year, most of our

company fleet was purchased by cash. At December 31, 2005, we had 28 tractors held under operating leases that

were acquired through the Edwards Bros. acquisition.

Lease expense for revenue equipment, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, decreased to less than 0.1%
for 2005, compared to 0.7% for 2004. This decrease is a result of the reduction in the number of tractors we held

under operating leases, as discussed above. The combination of depreciation and lease expense remained constant at

10.6% for both 2005 and 2004.

Purchased transportation expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, decreased to 6.4% for 2005

compared to 7.1% for 2004. The decrease is due to the combination of improvements in revenue per mile, along

with the decrease in the percentage of our total fleet comprised of independent contractors. As of December 31,

2005, 7.2% of our total fleet was operated by independent contractors, compared to 8.7% at December 31, 2004. As

of December 31, 2005, our total fleet included 237 tractors owned and operated by independent contractors,

compared to 244 tractors owned and operated by independent contractors at December 31, 2004. Purchased

transportation represents the amount an independent contractor is paid to haul freight for us on a mutually agreed
upon per-mile basis. To assist us in continuing to attract independent contractors, we may provide financing to

qualified independent contractors to assist them in acquiring revenue equipment. As of December 31, 2005, we had

$584,388 in loans outstanding (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $49,084) to independent contractors to

purchase revenue equipment. These loans are secured by liens on the revenue equipment we finance.

Gain on sale of equipment as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 0.6% in 2005, compared to

zero in 2004. The increase is due to revenue equipment being sold to independent parties in 2005, as opposed to

primarily being traded back to the equipment manufacturers.
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Miscellaneous operating expenses as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 2.2% in 2005,

compared to 2.1% in 2004. The slight increase is mostly due to the combination of higher bad debt reserves

recorded and higher facility repair and maintenance expense incurred as a result of owning additional service

centers.

As a result of the above factors, our operating ratio (operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge, expressed as a
percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge) was 79.6% for 2005, compared to 80.7% for 2004.

Net interest income (expense) as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained at less than 1.0% for both

2005 and 2004. We had no outstanding debt at December 31, 2005 or 2004.

Other expense for 2005 was comprised of gains resulting from the sale of our investment in Concentrek along with a

reduction in the carrying value of our investment in Transportation Resource Partners. Other expense as a

percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, was 0.1% for 2005, compared to zero for 2004.

Income taxes have been provided at the statutory federal and state rates, adjusted for certain permanent differences

between financial statement income and income for tax reporting. Our effective tax rate was 39.9% for 2005 and

40.0% for 2004.

Income tax expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 8.2% for 2005, compared to

7.8% for 2004, primarily due to the increase in income before income taxes that was offset by a slight decrease in

the effective income tax rate in 2005.

As a result of the preceding changes, our net income, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, was 12.4%

for 2005, compared to 11.6% in 2004.

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003

Our total revenue for 2004 increased 30.1% to $442.3 million from $340.1 million for 2003. Total revenue included
$30.6 million of fuel surcharge revenue in 2004 and $13.2 million of fuel surcharge revenue in 2003. In discussing

our results of operations we use revenue, before fuel surcharge (and fuel expense, net of surcharge), because

management believes that eliminating the impact of this sometimes volatile source of revenue affords a more

consistent basis for comparing our results of operations from period to period. We also discuss the changes in our

expenses as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, rather than absolute dollar changes. We do this because

we believe the high variable cost nature of our business makes a comparison of changes in expenses as a percentage

of revenue more meaningful than absolute dollar changes.

Revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased 26.0% to $411.7 million for 2004 up from $326.9 million in 2003. This

increase primarily resulted from the expansion of our fleet and customer base and increased volume from existing

customers, continued market development from existing service centers , the opening of three additional regional

dry van service centers and the establishment of a temperature controlled subsidiary in 2004, as well as improved
rates and utilization. As a result of our expansion into new regions and improving freight demand, our tractor fleet

grew 16.5% to 2,818 tractors (including 244 owned by independent contractors) as of December 31, 2004, from

2,418 tractors (including 253 owned by independent contractors) as of December 31, 2003. This growth in our fleet,

coupled with a 9.8% increase in average revenue per tractor per week in 2004 over 2003, resulted in the significant

period-over-period improvement in revenue.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense increased as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 32.5% in 2004

from 32.0% in 2003, primarily due to increases in driver pay rates of approximately three cents per mile during

2004, as well as an increase in the percentage of our total fleet operated by company drivers, as opposed to

independent contractors. Amounts paid to independent contractors for hauling freight are recorded on the

"Purchased Transportation" line of our consolidated statements of income. As of December 31, 2004, 91.3% of our
fleet was operated by company drivers, compared to 89.5% as of December 31, 2003. For our drivers, we record

accruals for workers’ compensation benefits as a component of our claims accrual, and the related expense is

reflected in salaries, wages and benefits in our consolidated statements of income.

Fuel expense, net of fuel surcharge, remained essentially constant as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge,

at 13.2% for 2004 and 13.3% in 2003. This was mainly due to improved collection of fuel surcharge revenue during

2004, which offset higher fuel prices. The Company maintains a fuel surcharge program to assist us in recovering a

portion of increased fuel costs. For the year ended December 31, 2004, fuel surcharge was $30.6 million, compared

to $13.2 million for the same period in 2003. As a percentage of total revenue, including fuel surcharge, fuel

expense increased to 19.2% for 2004 from 16.6% in 2003 as a result of higher fuel prices.
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Operations and maintenance expense increased as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 6.4% for 2004

from 6.2% in 2003. This increase was primarily due to increased costs for driver recruiting expenses. Independent

contractors pay for the maintenance on their own vehicles.

Insurance and claims expense increased as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, to 5.4% for 2004,

compared to 5.1% for 2003, primarily as a result of an increase in insurance premiums and self-insurance claims

costs incurred by the Company.

Operating taxes and license expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, decreased to 2.4% for 2004

from 2.8% for 2003. The decrease resulted primarily from improvements in average revenue per tractor per week in

2004, which more efficiently covered these costs.

Communications expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained constant at 0.9% for both

2004 and 2003.

Depreciation and amortization expense, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, increased to 9.9% for 2004

from 9.2% in 2003. This increase was primarily related to an increase in the percentage of our company fleet

comprised of purchased vehicles. Our company fleet includes purchased vehicles and vehicles held under operating

leases, while our total fleet includes vehicles in our company fleet as well as vehicles provided by independent

contractors. At December 31, 2004, 100% of our company fleet was comprised of purchased vehicles, compared to
82% at December 31, 2003.

Lease expense for revenue equipment, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, decreased to 0.7% for 2004,

compared to 2.4% for 2003, primarily as a result of a decrease in the percentage of the company fleet comprised of

vehicles held under operating leases, as discussed above. During 2004, we exercised early buy-out options on all of

our 393 tractors that were held under operating leases at the beginning of the year. The equipment purchased upon

termination of these operating leases was capitalized into our fleet during 2004.

Purchased transportation expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, decreased to 7.1% for 2004

compared to 7.7% for 2003. This decrease was primarily due to the relative decrease in the percentage of our total

fleet operated by independent contractors in 2004. As of December 31, 2004, 8.7% of our total fleet was operated by
independent contractors, compared to 10.5% at December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2004, our total fleet

included 244 tractors owned and operated by independent contractors, compared to 253 tractors owned and operated

by independent contractors at December 31, 2003. Purchased transportation represents the amount an independent

contractor is paid to haul freight for us on a mutually agreed upon per-mile basis. To assist us in continuing to attract

independent contractors, we may provide financing to qualified independent contractors to assist them in acquiring

revenue equipment. As of December 31, 2004, we had $248,000 in loans outstanding (net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $63,000) to independent contractors to purchase revenue equipment. These loans are secured by liens on

the revenue equipment we finance.

Miscellaneous operating expenses as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained constant at 2.2% for

2004 and 2003.

As a result of the above factors, our operating ratio (operating expenses, net of fuel surcharge, expressed as a

percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge) was 80.7% for 2004, compared to 81.8% for 2003.

Net interest income (expense) as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, remained at less than 1.0% for both

2004 and 2003. We had no outstanding debt at December 31, 2004 or 2003.

Other expense for 2003 was comprised of an adjustment to the carrying value of an investment the Company had in

an entity whose primary asset is a jet aircraft. Other expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, was

0.1% for 2003.

Income taxes have been provided at the statutory federal and state rates, adjusted for certain permanent differences
between financial statement income and income for tax reporting. Our effective tax rate was 40.0% for 2004 and

39.7% for 2003.

Income tax expense as a percentage of revenue, before fuel surcharge, increased to 7.8% for 2004, from 7.1% for

2003, primarily due to the increase in income before income taxes and a slightly higher tax rate in 2004.

As a result of the preceding changes, our net income, as a percentage of revenue before fuel surcharge, was 11.6%

for 2004, compared to 10.9% in 2003.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The growth of our business has required, and will continue to require, a significant investment in new revenue

equipment. Our primary sources of liquidity have been funds provided by operations, and to a lesser extent lease

financing arrangements, issuances of equity securities, and borrowings under our line of credit.

Net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $107.8 million, $96.7 million, and $84.4 million for the

years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 respectively. The increase for 2005 was primarily the result of an

increase in income from operations due to our fleet expansion and improved revenue per mile.

Capital expenditures for the purchase of revenue equipment, net of equipment sales and trade-ins, office equipment,

and land and leasehold improvements, totaled $103.6 million, $115.7 million, and $70.3 million for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 respectively. We currently anticipate capital expenditures, net of trade-ins, of

approximately $117 million for 2006. We expect these capital expenditures will be used primarily to acquire new

revenue equipment.

Net cash used in financing activities was approximately $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,

compared to cash provided in financing of approximately $948,000 for the year ended 2004. Cash used in financing
for the year ended December 31, 2005 consisted of $6.8 million of debt payment associated with the acquisition of

Edwards Bros., Inc., $3.4 million paid for cash dividends to common stock shareholders, and $2.8 million of

proceeds from stock option exercises. The cash provided by financing in the 2004 year was a result of the net

proceeds from stock options exercised. Net cash used for financing activities was approximately $12.7 million for

the year ended December 31, 2003, which was primarily for the payments on our line of credit and long-term debt,

which was retired in full during the fourth quarter of 2003.

At December 31, 2005, we did not have any outstanding debt. We currently maintain a line of credit, which permits

revolving borrowings and letters of credit totaling $25.0 million. At December 31, 2005, the line of credit consisted

solely of issued but unused letters of credit totaling $14.0 million. We are obligated to comply with certain financial

covenants under our line of credit and were in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003.

As of December 31, 2005, we held $18.8 million in cash and cash equivalents. Management believes we will be able

to finance our near term needs for working capital over the next twelve months, as well as acquisitions of revenue

equipment during such period, with cash balances and cash flows from operations. We will continue to have

significant capital requirements over the long-term, which may require us to incur debt or seek additional equity

capital. The availability of additional capital will depend upon prevailing market conditions, the market price of our

common stock, and several other factors over which we have limited control, as well as our financial condition and

results of operations. Nevertheless, based on our recent operating results, current cash position, anticipated future

cash flows, and sources of financing that we expect will be available to us, we do not expect that we will experience

any significant liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

Our liquidity is not materially affected by off-balance sheet transactions. Like many other trucking companies,

periodically we have utilized operating leases to finance a portion of our revenue equipment acquisitions. At

December 31, 2005, we had 28 tractors held under operating leases with varying termination dates ranging from

March 2006 to September 2009. Future operating lease commitments as of December 31, 2005 were $1.6 million,

with $500,000 due in the next 12 months. The effective annual interest rates under these operating leases range

from 6.7% to 7.2%. Lease payments in respect of such vehicles are reflected in our income statements in the line

item "Lease expense - revenue equipment." Our rental expense related to operating leases was $0.2 million in 2005,

compared to $3.0 million in 2004.
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Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2005, our contractual obligations and payments due by

corresponding period for our short and long term operating expenses and other commitments.

Payments (in millions) due by period

Contractual Obligations Total

Less than

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years

More than

5 years

Purchase Obligations (Revenue Equipment) (1) $36.8 $36.8 -- -- --

Investment in Transportation Resource Partners,

LP (TRP) (2)
$2.7 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Operating Leases – Revenue Equipment $1.6 $0.5 $0.9 $0.2 --

Operating Leases – Terminal Building $0.6 $0.5 $0.1 -- --

Potential Pay-out Relating to Edwards Bros.,
Inc. acquisition (3)

$0.4 $0.4 -- -- --

Total $42.1 $38.2 $1.0 $0.2 --

(1) Purchase Obligations (Revenue Equipment) represent the total purchase price under commitments to purchase
tractors and trailers scheduled for delivery throughout 2006.

(2) TRP commitment is expected to be made through variable contribution amounts over the next five years.
(3) On August 12, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Edwards Bros., Inc. The purchase agreement

describes potential future payments due on or before March 31, 2006. The potential pay-out is contingent upon

the outcome of retaining existing drivers and maintaining revenue levels with existing customers.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires that management make a number of assumptions and estimates that affect the reported

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions believed to be

reasonable. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that

may impact the Company in the future, actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. Our critical

accounting policies are those that affect, or could affect, our financial statements materially and involve a significant

level of judgment by management.

Our significant accounting policies including revenue recognition and assessing possible impairments on long lived

assets and intangibles are described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

Depreciation. Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated by

the straight-line method over the estimated useful life, which ranges from three to thirty years, down to an estimated

salvage value of the property and equipment, which ranges from 10% to 30% of the capitalized cost. We
periodically evaluate the useful lives and salvage values of our property and equipment based upon, among other

things, our experience with similar assets, including gains or losses upon dispositions of such assets. Our

determinations with respect to salvage values are based upon the expected market values of equipment at the end of

the expected life. We presently do not expect any decrease in the salvage values of our revenue equipment as a result

of conditions in the used equipment market or otherwise.

Tires on revenue equipment purchased are capitalized as a part of the equipment cost and depreciated over the life of

the vehicle. Replacement tires and recapping costs are expensed when placed in service.

Claims Accrual. Reserves and estimates for claims is another of our critical accounting policies. The primary claims

arising for us consist of cargo liability, personal injury, property damage, collision and comprehensive, workers’
compensation, and employee medical expenses. We maintain self-insurance levels for these various areas of risk and

have established reserves to cover these self-insured liabilities. We also maintain insurance to cover liabilities in

excess of the self-insurance amounts. The claims reserves represent accruals for the estimated self-insured portion of

pending claims, including adverse development of known claims, as well as incurred but not reported claims. These

estimates are based on historical information, primarily our own claims experience and the experience of our third

party administrator, along with certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions as well as changes

in actual experience could cause these estimates to change over time. The significant level of our self-insured

retention for personal injury and property damage claims, currently at $1.5 million, amplifies the importance and

potential impact of these estimates.
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Accounting for Income Taxes. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for

income taxes and in determining whether deferred tax assets will be realized in full or in part. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those

temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. If it were ever estimated that it is more likely than not

that all or some portion of specific deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance must be established
for the amount of the deferred tax assets that are determined not to be realizable. A valuation allowance for deferred

tax assets has not been deemed necessary due to the Company’s profitable operations. Accordingly, if the facts or

financial results were to change, thereby impacting the likelihood of realizing the deferred tax assets, judgment

would have to be applied to determine the amount of valuation allowance required in any given period.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4".

SFAS No. 151 clarifies the accounting for amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted

material (spoilage). This statement is effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 151

is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, "Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB

No. 29". SFAS No. 153 amends ABP 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar

productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have

commercial substance. A monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are

expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. This statement is effective for the Company on January

1, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial

statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share Based Payment". SFAS No. 123

(revised 2004) is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation". This

statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", and its related
implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee

services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award.

That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange

for the award. The Company expects to adopt the provisions of SFAS 123 (revised 2004) using a modified

prospective application. The modified prospective method requires companies to recognize compensation cost for

unvested awards that are outstanding on the effective date based on the fair value that the company had originally

estimated for purposes of preparing its SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures. For all new awards that are granted or

modified after the effective date, a company would use SFAS 123R’s measurement model. This statement is

effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the amount of unrecognized compensation

expense to be recognized in future periods, in accordance with SFAS 123R, is approximately $11.3 million. Had

SFAS No. 123R been implemented in 2005, we would have experienced a $5.1 million reduction in our net income

and a $.06 per share decrease in both basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share. The majority of the
2005 stock option expense was due to the one-time option grant of 500,000 shares to Kevin Knight, the Company’s

Chief Executive Officer. This one-time grant was made in recognition of Mr. Knight’s past services. See "Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements – Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Significant

Accounting Policies - Stock-Based Compensation" for more information regarding the effect on net income if SFAS

No. 123R had been applied to all outstanding awards for the years ended December 31 2005, 2004, and 2003.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154: "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections" to replace APB

Opinion No. 20 "Accounting Changes", and FASB Statement No. 3 "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim

Financial Statements". This statement changes the accounting treatment and reporting of a change in accounting

principle, and redefines restatement. The Statement defines and requires retrospective application to prior period

financial statements for changes in accounting principles, and applies to all voluntary changes as well as changes
required by accounting pronouncements when no specific transition provisions are provided. This statement also

redefines restatement as the revising of previously issued financial statements to reflect the correction of an error.

This Statement is effective for the Company for changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning

after December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is not expected to have a material effect on our

consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47 "Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations"

to clarify that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement No. 143 is a legal

obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional

on a future event that the enterprise may or may not have control over. This Interpretation requires recognition of a

liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability’s fair value can be

reasonably determined. This Interpretation is effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December
15, 2005 (December 31, 2005, for calendar-year enterprises). The implementation of FASB No. 143 and

Interpretation No. 47 are not material to the consolidated financial statements.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk changes in interest rate on debt and from changes in commodity prices.

Under Financial Accounting Reporting Release Number 48 and SEC rules and regulations, we are required to

disclose information concerning market risk with respect to foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and commodity

prices. We have elected to make such disclosures, to the extent applicable, using a sensitivity analysis approach,

based on hypothetical changes in interest rates and commodity prices.

Except as described below, we have not had occasion to use derivative financial instruments for risk management

purposes and do not use them for either speculation or trading. Because our operations are confined to the United

States, we are not subject to foreign currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk to the extent we borrow against our line of credit or incur debt in the acquisition

of revenue equipment. We attempt to manage our interest rate risk by managing the amount of debt we carry. At

December 31, 2005, we did not have any outstanding borrowings. In the opinion of management, an increase in

short-term interest rates could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition only if we incur substantial

indebtedness and the interest rate increases are not offset by freight rate increases or other items. Management does
not foresee or expect in the near future any significant changes in our exposure to interest rate fluctuations or in how

that exposure is managed by us.

Commodity Price Risk

We also are subject to commodity price risk with respect to purchases of fuel. Historically, we have sought to

recover a portion of our short-term fuel price increases from customers through fuel surcharges. Fuel surcharges that

can be collected do not always fully offset an increase in the cost of diesel fuel. Based upon our experience, we

believe that we generally pass through to customers approximately 80% to 90% of fuel price increases. For the fiscal

year ended December 31, 2005, fuel expense, net of fuel surcharge, represented 16.5% of our total operating

expenses, net of fuel surcharge, compared to 16.4% for the same period ending in 2004.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated balance sheets of Knight Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,

and the related consolidated balance sheets, statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and

cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, consolidated selected quarterly

financial data (unaudited) for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, together with the related notes, the

report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December

31, 2005 and 2004, and the report of KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm for the year

ended December 31, 2003 are set forth at pages 30 through 48 of this report.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING

AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

We did not change or have any disagreements with our accountants on accounting and financial disclosure during

the year ended December 31, 2005.
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CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act and SEC rules and regulations promulgated thereunder,

we have established and maintain disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.

Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, does not expect that our

disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error, misstatements,
or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the

fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance

that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to our Company,

including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other

members of senior management and the Board of Directors.

Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2005, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer

have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the

Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports

that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time

periods specified in SEC rules and forms.

On August 12, 2005, we purchased 100% of the stock of Edwards Bros., Inc., an Idaho based refrigerated carrier.

According to 035 Question 3 of the SEC ICFR FAQ’s, management has elected to exclude the assessment of

internal control over financial reporting for Knight Refrigerated Idaho Falls Division (formerly Edwards Bros., Inc.),

whose financial statements constitute 1.4% of total assets, 2.2% of revenues of the consolidated financial statement

for the year ended December 31, 2005. Accordingly, management’s evaluation and assessment does not include
internal control over financial reporting at Knight Refrigerated Idaho Falls Division.

With the exception of the Edwards Bros. acquisition, there were no other changes in our internal control over

financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2005, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to

materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

No changes occurred in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended December 31,

2005, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control or financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Rules 13a -15(f) and 15d -15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with

the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we

conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set

forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission. Management's assessment does not extend to the internal control over financial reporting at

Knight Refrigerated Idaho Falls Division, which was acquired on August 12, 2005 and whose financial statements

reflect total assets and revenues constituting 1.4% and 2.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial

statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005. Based on our evaluation under the criteria set

forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial

reporting was effective as of December 31, 2005. Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report set forth below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Knight Transportation, Inc.
Phoenix, Arizona

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Knight Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company")

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established

in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission. As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management

excluded from their assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Knight Refrigerated Idaho Falls

Division, which was acquired on August 12, 2005 and whose financial statements reflect total assets and revenues

constituting 1.6% and 3.0%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting

at Knight Refrigerated Idaho Falls Division. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's

assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such

other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,

the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and

effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's

assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal

control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established

in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year

ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated March 6, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

Phoenix, Arizona

March 6, 2006
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the headings "Proposal No. 1 - Election of Directors,"

"Continuing Directors," "Corporate Governance - Executive Officers and Certain Significant Employees of the

Company," "Corporate Governance - The Board of Directors and Its Committees - Committees of the Board of

Directors - Audit Committee," "Corporate Governance -Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act," and
"Corporate Governance - Code of Ethics," from our definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to our shareholders

in connection with the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 24, 2006.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the headings "Executive Compensation" and

"Corporate Governance - Director Compensation" from our definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to our

shareholders in connection with the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 24, 2006; provided,

however, that the Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation that appears under the heading

"Executive Compensation" in such Proxy Statement is not incorporated by reference.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides certain information, as of December 31, 2005, with respect to our compensation plans

and other arrangements under which shares of our Common Stock are authorized for issuance.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

(a) (b) (c)

Plan category

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of

outstanding options,

warrants, and rights

Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding options,

warrants, and rights

Number of securities
remaining eligible for

future issuance under

equity compensation plans

(excluding securities

reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders 4,562,511 $10.68 2,259,528

Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders 0 0 0

Total 4,562,511 $10.68 2,259,528

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the heading "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" from our definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to our shareholders in connection

with the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 24, 2006.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the headings "Executive Compensation -

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" and "Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions" from our definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to our shareholders in connection with the 2006

Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 24, 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the heading "Principal Accounting Fees and Services"

from our definitive Proxy Statement to be delivered to our shareholders in connection with the 2006 Annual Meeting

of Shareholders to be held May 24, 2006.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our audited consolidated financial statements are set forth at the following pages of this report:
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Consolidated Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) 38

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 39-48

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission, may be obtained free of charge by contacting Timothy M. Kohl,

Secretary, Knight Transportation, Inc., 5601 West Buckeye Road, Phoenix, Arizona 85043.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Knight Transportation, Inc.

Phoenix, Arizona

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Knight Transportation, Inc. (the

"Company") as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, statements of

comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. Our audits also included the

financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements and

financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of Knight Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the

results of their operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when

considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material

respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December

31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 6, 2006 expressed an

unqualified opinion on management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over

financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial

reporting.

Phoenix, AZ

March 6, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors

Knight Transportation, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity

and cash flows of Knight Transportation, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) for the year ended December 31,

2003. In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the financial

statement Schedule II for the year ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements and financial

statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the

results of operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 of Knight Transportation, Inc. and

subsidiaries, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement Schedule II for the year ended December 31, 2003, when considered in relation to the basic

consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth

therein.

Phoenix, Arizona

January 21, 2004
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands)

2005 2004

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $18,809 $23,155

Short Term Investments 2,278 2,202

Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,677 and

$1,708, respectively

79,848 58,733

Notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful notes receivable of $49 and

$63, respectively

241 171

Inventories and supplies 3,355 2,332

Prepaid expenses 7,156 5,215

Income tax receivable - 3,216
Restricted cash 211 -

Deferred tax assets 8,533 7,493

Total current assets 120,431 102,517

Property and Equipment:

Land and land improvements 18,163 16,516

Buildings and improvements 34,482 26,944

Furniture and fixtures 7,518 6,610

Shop and service equipment 2,803 2,739

Revenue equipment 430,048 338,413

Leasehold improvements 378 833

493,392 392,055

Less: accumulated depreciation (141,053) (104,125)

Property and equipment, net 352,339 287,930

Notes receivable, net of current portion 344 77
Goodwill 8,119 7,504

Other assets 2,594 4,839

Total assets $483,827 $402,867

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands, except par value)

2005 2004

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable $7,464 $5,044

Accrued payroll 5,452 4,558

Accrued liabilities 13,307 5,684

Dividends payable 1,713 -

Claims accrual 26,155 23,904

Other current liabilities 211 -

Total current liabilities 54,302 39,190

Deferred tax liabilities 76,597 72,660

Total liabilities 130,899 111,850

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 4)

Shareholders' Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized; none issued - -

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 85,666

and 84,995 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005

and 2004, respectively 857 850

Additional paid-in capital 87,148 81,834

Retained earnings 264,923 208,333

Total shareholders’ equity 352,928 291,017

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $483,827 $402,867

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands, except per share data)

2005 2004 2003

Revenue:

Revenue, before fuel surcharge $498,996 $411,717 $326,856

Fuel surcharge 67,817 30,571 13,213

Total revenue 566,813 442,288 340,069

Operating Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 162,778 133,822 104,756

Fuel 133,469 85,071 56,573

Operations and maintenance 34,449 26,369 20,345

Insurance and claims 25,159 22,319 16,558

Operating taxes and licenses 12,412 9,798 9,148

Communications 4,267 3,602 3,002

Depreciation and amortization 52,603 40,755 30,066

Lease expense - revenue equipment 183 3,047 7,635

Purchased transportation 31,787 29,342 25,194

Gain on sale of equipment (2,803) - -

Miscellaneous operating expenses 10,814 8,801 7,343

Total operating expenses 465,118 362,926 280,620

Income from operations 101,695 79,362 59,449

Other Income (Expense):

Interest income 658 398 560

Interest expense - - (881)

Other income (expense) 361 - (330)

Total other income (expense) 1,019 398 (651)

Income before income taxes 102,714 79,760 58,798

Income Taxes (41,000) (31,900) (23,340)

Net income $61,714 $47,860 $35,458

Basic Earnings Per Share $0.72 $0.57 $0.42

Diluted Earnings Per Share $0.71 $0.55 $0.41

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Basic 85,302 84,599 84,022

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding - Diluted 86,647 86,459 86,036

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)

2005 2004 2003

Net Income $61,714 $47,860 $35,458

Other Comprehensive Income:

Fair value adjustment of interest rate swap - - 383

Comprehensive Income $61,714 $47,860 $35,841

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)

Common Stock (a)

Shares Issued Amount

Additional

Paid-in
Capital (a)

Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained

Earnings Total

Balance, January 1, 2003 83,575 $835 $73,057 $(383) $126,148 $199,657
Exercise of stock options 772 9 2,214 - - 2,223
Issuance of common stock 2 - 23 - - 23
Tax benefit of stock option exercises - - 2,179 - - 2,179
Fair value adjustment of interest rate

swap

- - - 383 - 383

Net income - - - - 35,458 35,458

Balance, December 31, 2003 84,349 844 77,473 - 161,606 239,923
Exercise of stock options 644 6 2,075 - - 2,081
Issuance of common stock 2 - 28 - - 28
Tax benefit of stock option exercises - - 2,258 - - 2,258

Cash dividend - common at $.02

per share

- - - - (1,133) (1,133)

Net income - - - - 47,860 47,860

Balance, December 31, 2004 84,995 850 81,834 - 208,333 291,017

Exercise of stock options 669 7 2,786 - - 2,793

Issuance of common stock 2 - 35 - - 35

Tax benefit of stock option

exercises

- - 2,493 - - 2,493

Cash dividend - common at $.02

per share

- - - - (5,124) (5,124)

Net income - - - - 61,714 61,714

Balance, December 31, 2005 85,666 $857 $87,148 - $264,923 $352,928

(a) Common stock and additional paid-in capital have been restated to reflect 3-for-2 stock splits on December 23,

2005 and July 20, 2004.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(In thousands)

2005 2004 2003

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $61,714 $47,860 $35,458
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities-
Depreciation and amortization 52,603 40,755 30,066
Gain on sale of equipment (2,803) - -
Gain on sale of investment (591) - -

Impairment of investment 230 - 330
Non-cash compensation expense for issuance of common stock

to certain members of board of directors
35 28 23

Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts and notes receivable (45) 433 811
Deferred income taxes 1,292 15,685 8,608
Fair value adjustment of interest rate swap - - 383
Tax benefit on stock option exercises 2,493 2,258 2,179
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Increase in short-term investments (76) (2,202) -
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (17,810) (20,413) 804
(Increase) decrease in inventories and supplies (1,023) (996) 9
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (1,762) 2,274 2,163
(Increase) decrease in income tax receivable 3,216 (1,455) (757)
Increase in other assets (121) (485) (54)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 33 1,559 (141)
Increase in accrued liabilities and claims accrual 10,379 11,400 4,525

Net cash provided by operating activities 107,764 96,701 84,407

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (116,586) (115,672) (70,308)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 13,003 - -
Investment in/advances from other companies - - 1,389
(Increase) decrease in notes receivable (323) 628 1,556

Acquisition activity (3,284) - -
Cash restricted (211) - -
Investments in Transportation Resource Partners (1,496) - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in Knight Flight Services 1,388 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment in Concentrek, Inc. 2,836 - -

Net cash used in investing activities (104,673) (115,044) (67,363)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Payments on line of credit, net - - (12,200)
Payments of long-term debt - - (2,715)
Dividends paid (3,411) (1,133) -
Payment of notes payable acquired (6,819) - -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2,793 2,081 2,223

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (7,437) 948 (12,692)

Net (decrease) increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (4,346) (17,395) 4,352
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 23,155 40,550 36,198

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year $18,809 $23,155 $40,550

Supplemental Disclosures:
Non-cash investing and financing transactions:

Equipment acquired included in accounts payable $1,901 $152 $74
Net book value of equipment traded - 12,470 13,804

Cash flow information:
Income taxes paid $30,410 $15,151 $13,334
Interest paid - - 474

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands, except per share data)

The following table sets forth certain unaudited information about our revenue and results of operations on a

quarterly basis for 2005 and 2004:

2005

Mar 31 June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31

Revenue, before fuel surcharge $111,074 $119,722 $127,444 $140,756

Income from operations 21,147 24,814 25,012 30,722

Net income 12,757 14,957 15,451 18,549

Earnings per common share:

Basic (1) $0.15 $0.17 $0.18 $0.22

Diluted (1) $0.15 $0.17 $0.18 $0.21

2004

Mar 31 June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31

Revenue, before fuel surcharge $90,244 $100,168 $106,109 $115,196
Income from operations 15,387 18,932 20,776 24,267

Net income 9,311 11,415 12,558 14,576

Earnings per common share:

Basic (1) $0.11 $0.14 $0.15 $0.17

Diluted (1) $0.11 $0.13 $0.14 $0.17

(1) The basic and diluted earnings per share amounts for the first three quarters of 2005 and all four quarters of

2004 have been restated to reflect 3-for-2 stock splits on December 23, 2005 and July 20, 2004.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a. Nature of Business

Knight Transportation, Inc. (an Arizona corporation) and subsidiaries (the Company) is a short to medium-haul

truckload carrier of general commodities. The operations are based in Phoenix, Arizona, where the Company has its

corporate offices, fuel island, truck terminal, dispatching, and maintenance services. The Company also has service

centers located throughout the United States. The Company provides truckload carrier dry van and temperature

controlled services from our regional service centers. In July 2005, we initiated a brokerage subsidiary as well for

purposes of providing brokerage services to customers. The Company is subject to regulation by the Department of

Transportation and various state regulatory authorities. The Company has an owner-operator program. Owner-

operators are independent contractors who provide their own tractors. The Company views owner-operators as an

alternative method to obtaining additional revenue equipment.

b. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Knight Transportation,

Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the Company). All material intercompany accounts and transactions have

been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could

differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of short-term highly liquid instruments with insignificant

interest rate risk and original maturities of three months or less. Auction-rate securities are securities with an

underlying component of a long-term debt or an equity instrument. Auction-rate securities trade or mature on a
shorter term than the underlying instrument based on an auction bid that resets the interest rate of the security. The

Company had previously classified its auction-rate securities as cash equivalents based on the period from the

purchase to the first reset date. The Company has reclassified $2.2 million of auction-rate securities from cash

equivalents to short-term investments as of December 31, 2004.

Short-term investments - Short-term investments is comprised of trading marketable debt securities with original

maturities of greater than three months and represent an investment of cash that is available for current operations.

These investments are recorded at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in interest

income on the attached condensed consolidated financial statements.

Notes Receivable - Included in notes receivable are amounts due from independent contractors under a program

whereby the Company finances tractor purchases for its independent contractors. These notes receivable are
collateralized by revenue equipment and are due in weekly installments, including principal and interest payments,

from 10% to 12 %, over periods generally ranging from three to five years.

Inventories and Supplies - Inventories and supplies consist primarily of tires and spare parts which are stated at the

lower of cost, using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, or market.

Restricted Cash - In connection with the sale of our investment in Concentrek, we received a cash payment on

behalf of other outside investors, which is classified as restricted cash and other liabilities of $211,000 on the
Company's Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2005. This amount was fully distributed in January 2006.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization on property and

equipment are calculated by the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Years

Land improvements 5-10
Buildings and improvements 20-30

Furniture and fixtures 5

Shop and service equipment 3-5

Revenue equipment 5-10

Leasehold improvements 3
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The Company expenses repairs and maintenance as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and

2003, repairs and maintenance expense totaled approximately $19.5 million, $15.0 million and $12.3 million,

respectively, and is included in operations and maintenance expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of

income.

Revenue equipment is depreciated to salvage values of 20% to 30% for all tractors. Trailers are depreciated to
salvage values of 10% to 20%. The Company periodically reviews and adjusts its estimates related to useful lives

and salvage values for revenue equipment.

Tires on revenue equipment purchased are capitalized as a part of the equipment cost and depreciated over the life of

the vehicle. Replacement tires and recapping costs are expensed when placed in service.

Other Assets - Other assets include:

2005 2004

(In thousands)

Investment in Transportation Resource Partners ("TRP") $2,116 $ 850

Investment in and related advances to Concentrek, Inc. - 2,245

Investment in Knight Flight, LLC - 1,388

Other 478 356

$2,594 $4,839

In 2003, the Company signed a partnership agreement with TRP, who makes privately negotiated equity

investments. Per the partnership agreement, the Company is committed to pledge $5.0 million out of approximately

$260.0 million total, representing a 1.9% ownership. In 2004 the Company contributed $850,000 of working capital

to TRP. In 2005, the Company contributed an additional $1.5 million, with cumulative contributions of $2.3 million

as of December 31, 2005. Contributions to TRP are accounted for using the cost method. During 2005, the

Company recorded a $230,000 impairment in the carrying value of this investment to more closely reflect the fair
value of the portfolio. This adjustment is reflected in other expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of

income.

In April 1999, the Company acquired a 17% interest in Concentrek, Inc. ("Concentrek") through the purchase of

shares of Concentrek’s Class A Preferred Stock for $200,000. The remaining 83% interest in Concentrek was owned

by Randy, Kevin, Gary, and Keith Knight and members of Concentrek’s management. The Company made loans to

Concentrek to fund start-up costs. In September 2005, the Company sold 100% of its investment interest in

Concentrek. The Company received proceeds from the sale that satisfied all outstanding loans and investments in

Concentrek, resulting in a net gain of approximately $600,000.

In November 2000, the Company acquired a 19% interest in Knight Flight Services, LLC ("Knight Flight") which

purchased and operated a Cessna Citation 560 XL jet aircraft. The Company originally invested $1.7 million in
Knight Flight to obtain a 19% interest to assure access to charter air travel for the Company’s employees. The

remaining 81% interest in Knight Flight was owned by Randy, Kevin, Gary, and Keith Knight. During 2003, the

Company recorded a $330,000 impairment in the carrying value of this investment to more closely reflect the fair

value of the primary asset of that entity. In 2005 the Company sold 100% of this investment to related parties at the

recorded book value of $1,388,800, resulting in no gain or loss on this transaction.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No. 144 provides a single

accounting model for the assessment of impairment of long-lived assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-

lived assets, such as property and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an

asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the

carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately

presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are

no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale would be presented

separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet. Recoverability of long-lived assets is

dependent upon, among other things, the Company’s ability to continue to achieve profitability in order to meet its

obligations when they become due. In the opinion of management, based upon current information, the carrying

amount of long-lived assets will be recovered by future cash flows generated through the use of such assets over

their respective estimated useful lives.
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Goodwill - Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed at least annually (December 31), or more frequently should

any of the certain circumstances as listed in SFAS No. 142 occur, for impairment. SFAS No. 142 requires that

goodwill be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at adoption and at least annually thereafter, utilizing a

two-step methodology. The initial step requires us to determine the fair value of the reporting unit and compare it to

the carrying value, including goodwill, of such unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no impairment loss
would be recognized. However, if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of the

reporting unit may be impaired. The amount, if any, of the impairment would then be measured in the second step.

The Company completed this annual test as of December 31, 2005, and no adjustment was determined to be

necessary.

Claims Accrual - The claims reserves represent accruals for the estimated uninsured portion of pending claims,

including adverse development of known claims, as well as incurred but not reported claims. These estimates are

based on historical information, primarily our own claims experience and the experience of our third party

administrator, along with certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes in

actual experience, could cause these estimates to change in the near term. The significant level of our self-insured

retention for personal injury and property damage claims, currently at $1.5 million, amplifies the importance and

potential impact of these estimates. See Note 5.

Revenue Recognition - The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,

delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable. These conditions are met upon

delivery.

Income Taxes - Significant management judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and in

determining whether deferred tax assets will be realized in full or in part. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary

differences are expected to be recovered or settled. When it is more likely than not that all or some portion of

specific deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance must be established for the amount of the

deferred tax assets that are determined not to be realizable. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets has not
been deemed necessary due to the Company's profitable operations.

Stock-Based Compensation - At December 31, 2005, the Company has one stock-based employee compensation

plan, which is described more fully in Note 8. The Company applies the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,"

and related interpretations including Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 44,

"Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation, an interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25,"

issued in March 2000, to account for its fixed-plan stock options. Under this method, compensation expense is

recorded on the date of grant only if the current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. No

stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all options granted under the plan had an

exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of the grant. SFAS No. 123,

"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-
value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, the

Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting described above, and has

adopted only the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income if the fair-value-based method had been applied to all

outstanding awards for the years ended December 31 (in thousands, except per share data):

2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $61,714 $47,860 $35,458

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under fair-value-based method

for all awards, net of tax $(5,129) $(1,295) $(1,018)

Pro forma net income $56,585 $46,565 $34,440

Basic earnings per share - as reported $0.72 $0.57 $0.42

Basic earnings per share - pro forma $0.66 $0.55 $0.40

Diluted earnings per share - as reported $0.71 $0.55 $0.41

Diluted earnings per share - pro forma $0.65 $0.54 $0.40

Financial Instruments - The Company's financial instruments include cash equivalents, short-term investments,

trade receivables, notes receivable and accounts payable. Due to the short-term nature of cash equivalents, short-
term investments, trade receivables and accounts payable, the fair value of these instruments approximates their

recorded value. The fair value of notes receivable approximates market value. The Company does not have material

financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, with the exception of operating leases. See Note 4.

Concentration of Credit Risk - Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist

principally of trade receivables and notes receivable. The Company's three largest customers for each of the years

2005, 2004 and 2003, aggregated approximately 11%, 12% and 11% of revenues, respectively. Balance due from

the three largest customers accounts for approximately 7.3% of the total trade receivable balance as of December 31,

2005. Revenue from the Company's single largest customer represented approximately 5%, 5%, and 4% of revenues

for each of the years 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Balance due from the largest customer accounts for

approximately 5.8% of the total trade receivable balance as of December 31, 2005.

Recapitalization and Stock Split - On October 14, 2005 the Board of Directors approved a three-for-two stock split,

effected in the form of a 50 percent stock dividend. The stock split occurred on December 23, 2005, to all

shareholders of record as of the close of business on November 30, 2005. This stock split has been given retroactive

recognition for all periods presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. All share amounts and

earnings per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.

Earnings Per Share - A reconciliation of the numerator (net income) and denominator (weighted average number of

shares outstanding) of the basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") computations for 2005, 2004, and 2003, are

as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

2005 2004 2003

Net Income
(numerator)

Shares
(denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Net Income
(numerator)

Shares
(denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Net Income
(numerator)

Shares
(denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Basic EPS
$61,714 85,302 $.72 $47,860 84,599 $.57 $35,458 84,022 $.42

Effect of stock

options — 1,345 — 1,860 — 2,014

Diluted EPS
$61,714 86,647 $.71 $47,860 86,459 $.55 $35,458 86,036 $.41

At December 31, 2005, options to purchase 111,375 shares were excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings

per share because they were anti-dilutive.

Segment Information - Although the Company has many service centers, it has determined that it has one reportable

segment. All of the centers are managed based on regions in the United States in which the Company operates.

Each of these service centers has similar economic characteristics as they all provide short to medium-haul truckload

carrier services of general commodities to a similar class of customers. In addition, each service center exhibits

similar financial performance, including average revenue per mile and operating ratio. As a result, the Company has

determined that it is appropriate to aggregate its service centers into one reportable segment consistent with the

guidance in SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information". Accordingly,

the Company has not presented separate financial information for each of its service centers. The recently initiated

brokerage subsidiary qualifies as a segment; however, the results of that operation are relatively immaterial. For the

year ended December 31, 2005, total revenue, net income, and assets of the brokerage subsidiary accounted for less

than half of one percent of the Company’s consolidated totals.
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New Accounting Pronouncements - In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs, an

amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4". SFAS No. 151 clarifies the accounting for amounts of idle facility

expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). This statement is effective for the Company on

January 1, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated

financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, "Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB

No. 29". SFAS No. 153 amends APB 29 to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar

productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have

commercial substance. A monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are

expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. This statement is effective for the Company on January

1, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial

statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share Based Payment". SFAS No. 123

(revised 2004) is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation". This

statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", and its related
implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee

services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award.

That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange

for the award. The Company expects to adopt the provisions of SFAS 123 (revised 2004) using a modified

prospective application. The modified prospective method requires companies to recognize compensation cost for

unvested awards that are outstanding on the effective date based on the fair value that the company had originally

estimated for purposes of preparing its SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures. For all new awards that are granted or

modified after the effective date, a company would use SFAS 123R’s measurement model. This statement is

effective for the Company on January 1, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the amount of unrecognized compensation

expense to be recognized in future periods, in accordance with SFAS 123R, is approximately $11.3 million. Had

SFAS No. 123R been implemented in 2005, we would have experienced a $5.1 million reduction in our net income
and a $.06 per share decrease in both basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share. The majority of the

2005 stock option expense was due to the one-time option grant of 500,000 shares to Kevin Knight, the Company’s

Chief Executive Officer. This one-time grant was made in recognition of Mr. Knight’s past services. See "Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements – Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Significant

Accounting Policies - Stock-Based Compensation" for more information regarding the effect on net income if SFAS

No. 123R had been applied to all outstanding awards for the years ended December 31 2005, 2004, and 2003.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154: "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections" to replace APB

Opinion No. 20 "Accounting Changes", and FASB Statement No. 3 "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim

Financial Statements". This statement changes the accounting treatment and reporting of a change in accounting

principle, and redefines restatement. The Statement defines and requires retrospective application to prior period

financial statements for changes in accounting principles, and applies to all voluntary changes as well as changes
required by accounting pronouncements when no specific transition provisions are provided. This statement also

redefines restatement as the revising of previously issued financial statements to reflect the correction of an error.

This Statement is effective for the Company for changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning

after December 15, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is not expected to have a material effect on our

consolidated financial statements.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47 "Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations"

to clarify that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in FASB Statement No. 143 is a legal

obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional

on a future event that the enterprise may or may not have control over. This Interpretation requires recognition of a

liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability’s fair value can be
reasonably determined. This Interpretation is effective no later than the end of fiscal years ending after December

15, 2005 (December 31, 2005, for calendar-year enterprises). The implementation of FASB No. 143 and

Interpretation No. 47 did not have a material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
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2. Line of Credit and Long-Term Debt

The Company had no long-term debt at December 31, 2005. The Company maintains a revolving line of credit, with

a maturity date of September 30, 2007, which permits revolving borrowings and letters of credit (see Note 5)
totaling $25.0 million in the aggregate, with principal due at maturity and interest payable monthly at two options

(prime or LIBOR plus 0.625%). During 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement on the

$12.2 million outstanding under the revolving line of credit for purposes of better managing cash flow. On

November 7, 2001, the Company paid $762,500 to settle this swap agreement. The amount paid was included in

other comprehensive loss and had been fully amortized to interest expense at December 31, 2003. At December 31,

2005, there were no outstanding revolving borrowings on the line of credit and issued but unused letters of credit

under the line of credit totaled $14.0 million.

Under the line of credit, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and other certain covenants

relating to corporate structure, ownership and management. The Company was in compliance with its financial debt
covenants at December 31, 2005.

3. Income Taxes

Income tax expense consists of the following (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003

Current income taxes:

Federal $35,167 $12,252 $12,292

State 4,184 3,963 2,440

39,351 16,215 14,732

Deferred income taxes:

Federal 1,798 14,010 9,779

State (149) 1,675 (1,171)

1,649 15,685 8,608

$41,000 $31,900 $23,340

The effective income tax rate is different than the amount which would be computed by applying statutory corporate

income tax rates to income before income taxes. The differences are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003

Tax at the statutory rate (35%) $35,950 $27,797 $20,579

State income taxes, net of federal benefit 4,035 2,939 1,924

Other, net 1,015 1,164 837

$41,000 $31,900 $23,340

The net effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred

tax liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004, are as follows (in thousands):

2005 2004

Short-term deferred tax assets:

Claims accrual $9,598 $8,147

Other 1,135 1,147

10,733 9,294

Short -term deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses deducted for tax purposes (2,200) (1,801)

Short-term deferred tax assets, net $8,533 $7,493

Long-term deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment depreciation $76,597 $72,303
Other - 357

$76,597 $72,660

In management's opinion, it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to utilize its deferred tax assets in

future periods.

Included in accrued liabilities of the balance sheet is approximately $3.6 million for income tax payable at

December 31, 2005.
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4. Commitments and Contingencies

a. Purchase Commitments

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had purchase commitments for additional tractors and trailers with an

estimated purchase price of $36.8 million for delivery throughout 2006. Although the Company expects to take
delivery of this revenue equipment, delays in the availability of equipment could occur due to factors beyond the

Company's control.

b. Investment Commitments

In 2003, the Company signed a partnership agreement with Transportation Resource Partner (TRP), who makes

privately negotiated equity investments. Per the partnership agreement, the Company is committed to pledge $5

million to TRP. From inception to December 31, 2005, the Company has invested $2.3 million to acquire

approximately 2% ownership in TRP. The Company had an approximate $2.7 million outstanding commitment to

TRP as of December 31, 2005. An additional contribution of approximately $806,000 was made in January 2006.

c. Acquisition Commitments

On August 12, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Edwards Bros., Inc. The purchase agreement

describes potential future payments due on or before March 31, 2006. The potential pay-out is contingent upon the

outcome of retaining existing drivers and maintaining revenue levels with existing customers. The potential pay-out

is capped at $367,000.

d. Operating Leases

The Company leases certain revenue equipment facilities under non-cancelable operating leases. Rental expense for

these leases is reflected as an operating expense under "Lease expense - revenue equipment" on the Consolidated

Statements of Income. Rent expense related to these lease agreements totaled approximately $0.2 million, $3.0
million, and $7.6 million, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2006 $500,000

2007 $400,000

2008 $500,000

2009 $200,000

Total $1,600,000

The Company also leases certain terminal building facilities under non-cancelable operating leases. Rental expense

for these facilities is included as an operating expense under "Miscellaneous operating expenses" on the

Consolidated Statements of Income. Building rental expense related to these lease agreements totaled approximately

$1.5 million, $1.3 million, and $1.2 million, for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Future terminal building lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2006 $466,000

2007 $111,000

Total $577,000

e. Other

The Company is involved in certain legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of

management, the Company's potential exposure under any currently pending or threatened legal proceedings will

not have a material adverse effect upon our financial position or results of operations.
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5. Claims Accrual

The primary claims arising for the Company consist of auto liability (personal injury and property damage), cargo

liability, collision, comprehensive and workers' compensation. For 2005 the Company was self-insured for personal
injury and property damage liability, cargo liability, collision and comprehensive, with a maximum self retention

level of $2.0 million per occurrence for claims incurred until January 31, and for $1.5 million per occurrence for

claims incurred February to December. The Company is also self insured for worker’s compensation, with self-

retention level of $500,000 per occurrence. The Company establishes reserves to cover these self-insured liabilities

and maintains insurance to cover liabilities in excess of those amounts. The Company’s insurance policies for 2005

provided for excess personal injury and property damage liability up to a total of $50.0 million per occurrence. The

Company also maintains excess coverage for employee medical expenses and hospitalization, and damage to

physical properties. Liabilities in excess of the self-insured amounts are collateralized by letters of credit totaling

$14.0 million. These letters of credit reduce the available borrowings under the Company's line of credit. See Note

2.

6. Related Party Transactions

In June 2005, the Company sold 100% of its investment interest in Knight Flight Services, LLC (see Note 1 Other

Assets). This investment was sold to related parties at its book value of $1,387,700, resulting no gain or loss on this

transaction. During 2005, 2004, and 2003 the Company paid approximately $82,000, $315,000, and $404,000,

respectively, for travel services for its employees to Knight Flight.

In September 2005, the Company purchased land and a building from a member of its Board of Directors for $4.5

million. The facility purchased is located in Phoenix, Arizona and contains the Company’s corporate headquarters,

along with several operating divisions. Prior to this purchase, the Company had been leasing this facility from the

board member since the Company’s inception in 1989. This facility also has additional space which is under long-

term rental agreements with unrelated parties. These lease agreements have been assigned to the Company as part

of the purchase agreement. The Company will receive monthly rental income for this additional space of

approximately $22,000 per month. Leased payments made to this board member were approximately $57,000 for

2005, $92,000 for 2004, and $83,000 for 2003.

In September 2005, the Company sold 100% of its investment interest in Concentrek, Inc. ("Concentrek"). In April

1999, the Company acquired a 17% interest in Concentrek and Randy, Kevin, Gary, and Keith Knight and members

of Concentrek’s management owned the remaining 83%. The Company made loans to Concentrek to fund start-up

costs. The Company received proceeds from the sale that satisfied all outstanding loans and investments in

Concentrek, resulting in a net gain of approximately $600,000.

The Company paid approximately $89,000, $71,000, and $11,000 for certain of its key employees' life insurance

premiums during 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. The cash surrender values of these life insurance policies is

included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2005, the cash surrender

value of these policies was approximately $212,000. The life insurance policies provide for cash distributions to the
beneficiaries of the policyholders upon death of the key employee.

During 2005, 2004, and 2003, the Company paid approximately $144,000, $101,000, and $25,000, respectively, for

legal services to a firm that employs a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.

7. Shareholders' Equity

During 2005, 2004, and 2003, certain non-employee Board of Director members received annual director fees of

$35,300, $27,700, and $23,000, respectively, through the issuance of common stock in equivalent shares. The

Company issued a total of 2,204, 1,925, and 2,160 shares of common stock to certain directors for fees during 2005,

2004, and 2003, respectively.

8. Employee Benefit Plans

a. 2003 Stock Option Plan

The Company has maintained a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, employees and directors since 1994.

During 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors approved adoption of the "2003 Stock Option Plan" ("2003 Plan"),

along with the termination of the previous plan, which was scheduled to expire in 2004. The Company’s

shareholders approved the 2003 Plan at their annual meeting in May 2003. All issued and outstanding shares under

the previous plan remain in effect, but no further shares will be granted under that plan. The 2003 Plan originally

had 1,500,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance thereunder, as adjusted for the stock split during 2004.

During May of 2005 the Board of Directors increased the number of shares available for issuance to 4,000,000.
With the stock split in 2005 the stock reserved for issuance under the "2003 Stock Option Plan" became 6,000,000.

The 2003 Plan will terminate on February 5, 2013. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

administers the 2003 Plan and has the discretion to determine the employees and officers who receive awards, the
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type of awards to be granted (incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options and restricted stock grants) and the

term, vesting and exercise price. Incentive stock options are designed to comply with the applicable provisions of

the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) and are subject to restrictions contained in the Code, including a requirement

that exercise prices are equal to at least 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date and a

ten-year restriction on the option term.

In August 2005 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company adopted an amendment to

the 2003 Plan (the "Amendment"), subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders of the Amendment. In

December 2005, at a Special Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders of the Company approved the Amendment.

The Amendment is intended to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986, as amended. The Amendment also establishes a limit on the number of shares with respect to which

options may be granted to any one plan participant during a calendar year, which allowed the Company to give

Kevin Knight, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, a one-time grant of an option to purchase 500,000 shares of

the Company's common stock. The one-time option grant was made in recognition of Mr. Knight's past services and

reflected the Compensation Committee's determination that Mr. Knight's compensation package in the past had been

lower than was warranted by the Company's performance, trucking industry practices, and the practices followed by

growth companies in other industries.

Independent directors are not permitted to receive incentive stock options, but are entitled under the 2003 Plan to

receive automatic grants of non-qualified stock options upon joining the Board of Directors and annually thereafter.

Non-qualified stock options may be granted to directors, including independent directors, officers, and employees

and provide for the right to purchase common stock at a specified price and usually become exercisable in

installments after the grant date. Non-qualified stock options may be granted for any reasonable term. The 2003 Plan

provides that each independent director receives, on the date of appointment to the Board of Directors, a non-

qualified stock option to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock. Historically, the exercise price of the initial stock

option grants to independent directors has been equal to 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the

date of grant, while the exercise price of other non-qualified stock options granted under the 2003 Plan (including

subsequent grants to independent directors) has been equal to 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on

the date of grant. However, in March 2005, the Board of Directors adopted an amendment to the 2003 Plan which
provides that all future non-qualified stock options granted under the 2003 Plan must have an exercise price that is

equal to at least 100% of fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

At December 31, 2005, there were 4,562,511 unexercised options granted under the 2003 Plan and the previous plan

outstanding. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in 2005; risk free interest rate of

4.00%, expected life of six years, expected volatility of 48%, expected dividend rate of 0.4%, and expected

forfeitures of 3.82%. The following weighted average assumptions were used for grants in 2004; risk free interest

rate of 4.30%, expected life of six years, expected volatility of 49%, expected dividend rate of 0.3%, and expected

forfeitures of 4.17%. The following weighted average assumptions were used for grants in 2003; risk free interest

rate of 5.00%, expected life of six years, expected volatility of 50%, expected dividend rate of zero, and expected

forfeitures of 3.82%.

2005 2004 2003

Options

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price Options

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price Options

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,744,242 $7.41 3,660,267 $5.79 4,034,268 $4.26

Granted 1,699,313 15.36 1,038,734 10.86 694,575 11.37
Exercised (669,141) 4.20 (645,116) 3.23 (769,273) 2.89

Forfeited (211,903 ) 10.44 (309,643) 8.18 (299,303) 5.41

Outstanding at end of year 4,562,511 $10.68 3,744,242 $7.41 3,660,267 $5.78

Exercisable at end of year 1,765,748 $9.39 931,971 $3.73 785,475 $2.73

Weighted average fair value of

options granted during the period $7.78 $5.53 $6.22
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Options outstanding at December 31, 2005 have exercise prices between $1.81 and $19.09. There were 1,488,222

options outstanding with exercise prices ranging from $1.81 to $8.89 with weighted average exercise prices of $5.09

and weighted average remaining contractual lives of 4.5 years. There were 1,429,613 options outstanding with

exercise prices ranging from $11.04 to $14.79 with weighted average exercise prices of $11.09 and weighted

average contractual lives of 8.1 years. There were 1,644,676 options outstanding with exercise prices ranging from

$15.49 to $19.09 with weighted average exercise prices of $15.38 and weighted average contractual lives of 9.4
years.

b. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan

The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the Plan) for all employees who are 19 years of age or older and

have completed one year of service with the Company. The Plan provides for a mandatory matching contribution

equal to 50% of the amount of the employee's salary deduction not to exceed $625 annually per employee. The Plan

also provides for a discretionary matching contribution. In 2005, 2004, and 2003, there were no discretionary

contributions. Employees' rights to employer contributions vest after five years from their date of employment. The

Company's mandatory matching contribution was approximately $265,000, $207,000, and $172,000 in 2005, 2004,

and 2003, respectively. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company increased the mandatory matching contribution to

$850 annually per employee.

9. Acquisitions

On August 12, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Edwards Bros., Inc., an Idaho based temperature

controlled truckload carrier. The acquisition included 140 tractors and 224 trailers. The total purchase price has

been allocated to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair market values as

of the acquisition date in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 141 (SFAS

No.141), "Business Combinations". Goodwill has been recorded on the balance sheet for the amount which the

purchase price exceeded the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. The acquisition has been accounted for

in the Company’s results of operations since the acquisition date. The pro forma effect of the acquisition on the

Company’s results of operations is immaterial. In addition to the purchase price, the purchase agreement sets forth
certain conditions upon which an earn-out adjustment to the purchase price may be needed. Any adjustment for this

potential earn-out is not expected to be material. Future obligations and commitments relating to the potential earn-

out are described in Section 4C of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

KNIGHT TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(In thousands)

Balance at

Beginning
of Period

Expense

Recorded Deductions

Balance at

End
of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year ended December 31, 2005 $1,708 $1,675 $(1,706) (1) $1,677

Year ended December 31, 2004 1,942 454 (688 ) (1) 1,708

Year ended December 31, 2003 1,325 801 (184 ) (1) 1,942

Allowance for doubtful notes receivable:

Year ended December 31, 2005 63 14 (28) (1) 49

Year ended December 31, 2004 137 (21) (53 ) (1) 63

Year ended December 31, 2003 142 10 (15 ) (1) 137

(1) Write-off of bad debts
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